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Operationalisation of organised crime infiltration 

Four elements need to be present to identify a reference to or a case study on criminal infiltration: 

1. A criminal organisation; 

2. A natural person belonging to a criminal organisation or acting on its behalf, or an already infiltrated legal 

person; 

3. The investment of financial and/or human resources; 

4. The participation in the decision-making process of a legitimate business. 

1. A criminal organisation 

Building on Europol’s definition of serious and organised crime (Europol, 2013), ‘organised crime group’ refers to any 

criminal actor – from large organisations to loose networks of collaborating criminals – that falls under the definition 

provided by the EU Framework Decision on the Fight against Organised Crime (2008/841/JHA) and/or is involved in 

serious crimes as identified by art. 83(1) of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union. 

Art. 1 of the EU Framework Decision on the Fight against Organised Crime defines a criminal organisation as: 

a structured association,1 established over a period of time, of more than two persons acting in concert 

with a view to committing offences which are punishable by deprivation of liberty or a detention order of a 

maximum of at least four years or a more serious penalty, to obtain, directly or indirectly, a financial or 

other material benefit (Council of the European Union, 2008). 

Art. 83(1) of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union identifies ‘serious crimes’ as: 

terrorism, trafficking in human beings and sexual exploitation of women and children, illicit drug 

trafficking, illicit arms trafficking, money laundering, corruption, counterfeiting of means of payment, 

computer crime and organised crime (European Union, 2012). 

Broad definitions of organised crime have been criticized by scholars for their vagueness (Calderoni, 2008; Finckenauer, 

2005; Hagan, 2006; Maltz, 1996). However, they make it possible to include a broad range of criminal organisations in 

the analysis, and to take account of the differences among the five EU MS. 

2. A natural person belonging to a criminal organisation or acting on its behalf, or an already infiltrated legal person 

The literature on organised crime usually considers criminal organisations as collective bodies, and the investments in 

the legal economy are attributed to the whole organisation. However, the criminal infiltration of legitimate businesses is 

carried out by a single person or a group of persons belonging to the criminal organisation or acting on its behalf. 

Furthermore, distinguishing between cases of infiltration driven by personal reasons and those dictated by the criminal 

organisation’s strategies is not always possible (Savona & Riccardi, 2015). 

The infiltration may also be perpetrated by a legal entity (e.g. cooperative, corporation, company) ultimately controlled by 

a person (or a group of persons) belonging to the criminal organisation or acting on its behalf. In this case, the legal 

person that carries out the infiltration has already been infiltrated by the criminal organisation and acquires the 

ownership of (a percentage of) another operating business. 

Accordingly, the criminal infiltration of a legitimate business may be carried out by: 

 A natural person (or a group of persons) belonging to a criminal organisation (i.e. a member of the OCG);  

 A natural person (or a group of persons) acting on behalf of the organisation (i.e. a person who is used as a 

cover by OCG members and acts as a straw man); 

 A legal person already infiltrated by an OCG (i.e. a legal entity ultimately controlled by a criminal organisation 

through a member of the group or a straw man).  

                                                
1 A structured association is defined as ‘an association that is not randomly formed for the immediate commission of an offence , nor does it need to have formally 

defined roles for its members, continuity of its membership, or a developed structure’ (Council of the European Union, 2008). 
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3. The investment of financial and/or human resources 

The investment of money is not an essential requirement for the criminal infiltration of a legitimate business. Human 

resources may also be adopted to acquire control over the management. 

In the case of investment of capital, it is not always possible to identify the origin of the money invested in the legal 

business. The members of a criminal organisation, as well as straw men and infiltrated legal persons, may invest the 

proceeds of crime directly, or carry out the infiltration by investing money which has already been laundered. In some 

cases, a member of a criminal organisation may also invest capital of legal origin (e.g. after the inheritance of property). 

Accordingly, the capital invested in a legitimate business may have different origins: 

 ‘Dirty’ money: proceeds of illicit activities carried out by the criminal organisation or some of its members; 

 Laundered money: proceeds of illicit activities carried out by the criminal organisation that have already been 

laundered before the investment; 

 ‘Clean’ money: proceeds of (at least formally) licit activities carried out by the criminal organisation or some of 

its members (e.g. profits from other legal businesses). 

Similarly, the capital invested may belong to a member of the criminal organisation or to the entire organisation (if the 

criminal group has common funds). 

Cases of OCG infiltration are identified when the acquisition of the ownership of (a percentage of) an already existing 

business, or the start-up of a new one, is conducted by a person belonging to or acting on behalf of a criminal 

organisation recognised as carrying out illicit activities and making illegal proceeds from those activities, although a 

clear and direct link between the proceeds of crime and the investment in the legal business cannot be identified. 

In the case of investment of human resources, a person belonging to the criminal organisation or acting on its behalf 

may have a formal role within the management of a legal business and participate in the strategic decisions. The 

external influence by OCG members on decisions taken by legal entrepreneurs or managers and supervisors employed 

by a legal business (e.g. through violence or intimidation) is also considered a case of criminal infiltration. 

4. Participation in the decision-making process of a legitimate business 

The process of infiltration may concern any type of legitimate business (from individual companies to limited companies, 

also including businesses listed on the stock exchange) in any type of business sector. On the contrary, investments in 

assets that are not commonly regarded as ‘companies’ (e.g. houses, other real estate properties, cars, vehicles, and 

other movable assets) are excluded from the analysis. 

A case of OCG infiltration is identified when the criminal organisation, through a member or a straw man, exercises 

influence over the decision-making process of a legitimate operating business, i.e. it is able to influence decisions about 

business strategies and future investments, as well as hirings, promotions and salary increases, subcontracting and 

supply contracts, security and controls. 

The influence over the decision-making process can be exerted through the ownership of (a percentage of) the shares 

and/or the control over the management. The control can be exercised by a member of the criminal organisation 

(internal direct control), a straw man acting on behalf of the organisation or an already infiltrated legal business (internal 

indirect control), or through intimidation, violence, or corruption of a manager or a supervisor employed by the business 

(external control). 

Accordingly, the influence over the decision-making process can be exerted in three different, yet non-mutually 

exclusive, ways: 

 Ownership of (a percentage of) the shares: the criminal organisation, through a member, a straw man, or a 

legal person, owns a percentage of the shares of a legitimate business. The control of the majority of the 

shares is not a requirement of OCG infiltration. 

 Internal control over the management: the criminal organisation, through a member, a straw man, or a legal 

person, participates in the decisions regarding a business’ operations and policies. The internal control over 

the management implies that an OCG member or a straw man has a formal management role within the 

business. 
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 External control over the management: the criminal organisation, through intimidation, violence, or corruption 

of a manager or supervisor employed by the business participates in the decisions regarding that business’s 

operations and policies. The external control over the management implies that the threatened or corrupted 

person has a formal management role within the business. 

Cases of internal and external control over the management can be extended to include low-level employees, provided 

that the employee takes decisions on hiring and promotions, subcontracting and supply contracts, or security and 

controls, even at the local unit level. 

Classification of organised crime groups 

The broad definition of organised crime used in the research conducted for this study made it possible to identify a 

plurality of criminal actors ranging from large-scale criminal organisations, characterised by formal rules and a 

hierarchical structure, to loose networks of collaborating criminals, with a more flat organisation and a fluid 

membership. Furthermore, the definition does not require that a criminal organisation uses a particular modus operandi 

(e.g. intimidation or violence, corruption), thus taking account of the differing nature of organised crime groups across 

different European countries. 

On the basis of the broad range of criminal groups initially identified, a simplified classification of OCGs was created in 

an attempt to standardise the information collected and make the interpretation of the results easier. First, each 

criminal group was classified according to standardised categories defined on the basis of the dominant geographical 

provenance, nationality and/or ethnicity of the group’s members. In cases of criminal organisations with a well-defined 

identity (e.g. traditional mafia-type associations such as Cosa Nostra, the Camorra or the ‘Ndrangheta, as well as 

motorcycle and prison gangs), the criminal identity of the OCG was preferred to the ethnicity of its members. 

The use of ethnicity to categorise organised crime groups has been criticised by many scholars (e.g. Murji, 2007). In the 

2013 SOCTA, Europol pointed out that ‘70% of identified OCGs are multi-national in their membership’ (Europol, 2013, 

p. 34). In particular, the use of ethno-national labels may be particularly problematic for those European countries, such 

as the UK or the Netherlands, that are characterised by a multicultural population (Savona & Riccardi, 2015). Despite 

these criticisms, the approach of classifying OCGs according to the dominant geographical provenance, nationality 

and/or ethnicity of their members is still used in many institutional reports, as well as in academic studies on organised 

crime. Moreover, the ethnicity of criminal members is one of the items of information most frequently reported in open 

sources and media reports. For these reasons, and drawing on the methodology elaborated by previous studies (Savona 

& Riccardi, 2015), a classification mainly based on ethnicity was adopted. 

Second, the various categories of OCGs were aggregated into six macro categories and used for (most of) the analyses. 

On some occasions, Chinese OCGs and Russian/Georgian OCGs were included in the macro category ‘Other OCGs’, due 

to the low number of recorded references. By contrast, in some analyses focusing on the Italian situation, the three main 

Italian mafias (i.e. Cosa Nostra, Camorra and the ‘Ndrangheta) were considered individually, and not as an aggregate 

macro category, so as to take account of their distinctive features. 

Table A1 describes the macro categories of OCGs and the corresponding sub-categories, and provides examples of how 

criminal groups were initially identified from the literature. 

Table A1. Classification of organised crime groups 

Macro category of OCG Category of OCG Examples from the literature 

Chinese Chinese e.g. Chinese triads 

Italian mafias 

Apulian e.g. Sacra Corona Unita, Società foggiana 

Camorra e.g. La Torre clan 

Cosa Nostra e.g. Santapaola clan 

Italian mafias Italian mafias (not specified) 

‘Ndrangheta e.g. Cosca Aquino 

Local OCGs 

Italian e.g. Banda della Magliana 

British e.g. English, Scottish, Welsh 

Dutch Dutch 

Slovenian Slovenian 
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Swedish Swedish 

Motorcycle gangs Motorcycle gangs e.g. Bandidos, Hells Angels 

Other OCGs 

African African (not specified) 

Albanian Albanian 

Asian e.g. South Asian, Asian (not specified) 

Bulgarian Bulgarian 

Colombian e.g. Colombian drug lords  

Eastern European Eastern European (not specified) 

Estonian Estonian  

Former Yugoslav Former Yugoslav  

Gypsy Gypsy  

Indian e.g. South Indian, Indian  

Iraqi Iraqi  

Irish e.g. IRA, Irish 

Israeli Israeli  

Lithuanian Lithuanian  

Moroccan Moroccan  

Nepalese Nepalese  

Nigerian Nigerian  

Other e.g. Criminal network, International 

Pakistani Pakistani  

Polish Polish  

Prison gang e.g. Black Cobra, Wolfpack 

Romanian Romanian  

South African South African  

Sri Lankan Sri Lankan  

Surinamese Surinamese  

Turkish e.g. Turkish heroin mafia, Turkish  

Vietnamese e.g. Vietnamese gangs, Vietnamese  

Russian/Georgian Former URSS Former URSS 

Russian/Georgian e.g. Russian, Georgian, South Ossetian military, White 

Legion 
Source: Transcrime elaboration 
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Database on OCG infiltration 

The first part of the report builds on previous studies on organised crime investments in Europe (Savona & Riccardi, 

2015) and analyses references to OCG infiltration in legitimate businesses in Italy, the Netherlands, Slovenia, Sweden, 

and United Kingdom from a variety of open sources. 

Each research partner conducted a systematic review of the literature in its own country, collected information on OCG 

infiltration in legal businesses, and organised it in the Database on Criminal Infiltration (DCI). The literature review 

collected references to criminal infiltration in legal businesses between 2005 and 2013. When the date of infiltration 

was unclear, the date of the source was taken as a proxy (Savona & Riccardi, 2015). The review covered several types 

of open sources, i.e. academic studies, institutional and LEA reports, judicial files, and newspaper articles. 

Academic studies. These included books, journal articles, and project reports dealing with OCG infiltration of legitimate 

businesses. The documents were both in English and other languages (i.e. Italian, Duth, Slovenian and Swedish). 

Institutional reports, LEA reports, and judicial evidence. These included reports by national institutions, LEAs, and 

surveillance authorities, containing information on OCG infiltration of legitimate businesses. Judicial files and police files 

concerning criminal investigations of OCG infiltration into legitimate businesses were also collected. 

Media and newspaper articles. These included articles from national and local newspapers reporting cases of OCG 

infiltration in legal businesses. The following keywords (translated into the native language of each research partner) 

were used: 

 Organised crime OR criminal organisation OR criminal group AND infiltrat* (infiltration, infiltrated); 

 Organised crime OR criminal organisation OR criminal group AND compan* (company, companies); 

 Organised crime OR criminal organisation OR criminal group AND business; 

 Organised crime OR criminal organisation OR criminal group AND money laundering. 

The information was organised in the Database on Criminal Infiltration (DCI). The DCI contains 2,380 references to OCG 

infiltration in legal businesses in the five EU MS. For each reference, the DCI records details on the geographic location 

of the infiltration (NUTS 3 detail), the business sector of the infiltrated business (NACE 2-digit detail), and the criminal 

organisation involved. Table A2 lists the variables included in the DCI. 

Table A2. List of variables included in the Database on Criminal Infiltration (DCI) 

Variable Description Categories and examples 

Item ID   

Author 
Author of the study (person or 

institution) 
e.g. Varese, F.; UNODC 

Title of the study/article   

Institution/publisher/newspaper 

Institution or publisher (for academic 

studies and reports); name of the 

newspaper which published the 

article (for media sources) 

e.g. European Journal of Criminology; 

Home Office; Le Monde 

Date/year 

Year of publication (for academic 

studies and reports); date of 

publication (DD/MM/YYYY) (for media 

sources)  

 

Year of operation 
In the case of investigative evidence, 

year of law enforcement operation 
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Type of document  

a. Academic study 

b. Institutional report 

c. LEA report 

d. Judicial evidence 

f. Media 

g. Other 

Unit of analysis  
a. Case study 

b. Aggregate analysis 

Language Language of the document  

Country   

Infiltrated territory (original wording) 

Area (region, province, city) of the 

infiltrated company, as described in 

the document 

e.g. Buccinasco 

NUTS 2 level 

The territory of the infiltrated 

company, as identified in the NUTS 

classification 

e.g. Milano 

NUTS 3 level 

The territory of the infiltrated 

company, as identified in the NUTS 

classification 

e.g. Lombardia 

Infiltrated business sector (original 

wording) 

The business sector of the infiltrated 

company, as described in the 

document 

e.g. Catering 

NACE 0-digit label 

The business sector of the infiltrated 

company, as identified in the NACE 

classification 

e.g. Accommodation and food service 

activities 

NACE 1-digit label 
e.g. Food and beverage service 

activities 

NACE 2-digit label 
e.g. Restaurants and mobile food 

service activities 

Type of OCG (original wording) 

The OCG involved in the infiltration 

process, as described in the 

document 

e.g. Hells Angels; Cosca Aquino; 

Chinese triads 

Related illegal activities 
Type of illegal activity (if any) from 

which the invested money originated 
e.g. Drug trafficking 

Location of crime activity (original 

wording) 

Location (city, province, region, or 

country) where the crime activity was 

perpetrated, as described in the 

document 

 

NUTS 2 level of crime activity 

The territory where the crime activity 

was perpetrated, as identified in the 

NUTS classification 

 

NUTS 3 level of crime activity 

The territory where the crime activity 

was perpetrated, as identified in the 

NUTS classification 

 

Link 

Link to the website where the 

document can be accessed or 

downloaded 

 

Page 
Pages of the document which deal 

with OCG infiltration 
 

Source: Transcrime elaboration 

Building on previous studies (Savona & Riccardi, 2015), the database was structured so that each piece of information 

could generate more than one reference to OCG infiltration, e.g. when a document reported a case of infiltration in 

various business sectors by the same criminal organisation. In several cases, the documents lacked information on the 

number of legal businesses infiltrated by OCGs. Therefore, the references do not necessarily correspond to a single 

business entity and cannot be counted and analysed from a scrict statistical standpoint. 

Four categories were created to analyse the references to OCG infiltration in legal businesses across regions and 

business sectors: 

 ‘< Mean-0.5 SD’ (𝑥 ≤ 𝑚𝑒𝑎𝑛 − 0.5 ∙ 𝑠𝑡𝑎𝑛𝑑𝑎𝑟𝑑 𝑑𝑒𝑣𝑖𝑎𝑡𝑖𝑜𝑛); 

 ‘Mean-0.5 SD~Mean’ (𝑚𝑒𝑎𝑛 − 0.5 ∙ 𝑠𝑡𝑎𝑛𝑑𝑎𝑟𝑑 𝑑𝑒𝑣𝑖𝑎𝑡𝑖𝑜𝑛 < 𝑥 ≤ 𝑚𝑒𝑎𝑛); 

 ‘Mean~Mean+0.5 SD’ (𝑚𝑒𝑎𝑛 < 𝑥 ≤ 𝑚𝑒𝑎𝑛 + 0.5 ∙ 𝑠𝑡𝑎𝑛𝑑𝑎𝑟𝑑 𝑑𝑒𝑣𝑖𝑎𝑡𝑖𝑜𝑛); 

 ‘> Mean+0.5 SD’ (𝑥 > 𝑚𝑒𝑎𝑛 + 0.5 ∙ 𝑠𝑡𝑎𝑛𝑑𝑎𝑟𝑑 𝑑𝑒𝑣𝑖𝑎𝑡𝑖𝑜𝑛). 
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The four categories are intended to provide a general understanding of the distribution of references across territories 

and business sectors, rather than identify those at low and high risk of infiltration. 

Furthermore, since the information on OCG infiltration was collected from open sources, the references recorded in the 

DCI may partly reflect differences in priorities and levels of awareness and interest by local and national institutions, 

LEAs, scholars, and the media. Therefore, the results of the analysis of the DCI should be interpreted with caution. 

Classification of business sectors 

Business sectors were classified according to the statistical classification of economic activities of the European 

Community (NACE).2 However, simpler and more straightforward labels were preferred in the presentation of the results. 

Table A3 lists the business sectors according to the NACE 0-digit classification and the corresponding ARIEL 

classification. 

Table A3. NACE and ARIEL classification of business sectors 

NACE 0-digit code NACE 0-digit label ARIEL label 

A Agriculture, forestry and fishing Agriculture and fishing 

B Mining and quarrying Mining and quarrying 

C Manufacturing Manufacturing 

D 
Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning 

supply 
Energy supply 

E 
Water supply; sewerage; waste managment 

and remediation activities 
Waste and scrap management 

F Construction Construction 

G 
Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor 

vehicles and motorcycles 
Wholesale and retail trade 

H Transporting and storage Transportation 

I Accommodation and food service activities Hotels, bars and restaurants 

J Information and communication IT services 

K Financial and insurance activities Financial and insurance activities 

L Real estate activities Real estate activities 

M 
Professional, scientific and technical 

activities 
Legal and professional activities 

N Administrative and support service activities Support service activities 

O 
Public administration and defence; 

compulsory social security 
Public administration 

P Education Education 

Q Human health and social work activities Hospitals and residential care 

R Arts, entertainment and recreation Clubs and gambling activities 

S Other services activities Personal service activities 

 

Chapter 2 draws on the information collected in the Database on Criminal Infiltration (DCI). It uses the references as 

proxies for OCG infiltration in legal businesses to identify territories and business sectors with evidence of OCG 

infiltration, and to analyse their main characteristics. 

Characteristics of infiltrated territories 

Table A4 lists the characteristics of the territories that, according to the criminological literature, may be linked to OCG 

infiltration, and the data used to measure them. 

Table A4. Operationalisation of the characteristics of infiltrated territories 

Characteristics of Data NUTS level Period Source 

                                                
2 Further information on the NACE classification can be found at: http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-

explained/index.php/Glossary:Statistical_classification_of_economic_activities_in_the_European_Community_%28NACE%29. 
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territories 

Technology 

Index: Total 

intramural R&D 

expenditure (% of 

GDP); Total R&D 

personnel (% of 

active population) 

2 2007-2011 
EUROSTAT, Istituto 

Tagliacarne 

Income 

Income of 

households (euros 

per inhabitant) 

2 2007-2011 
EUROSTAT, Istituto 

Tagliacarne 

Infrastructural 

equipment 

Motorways 

(kilometres per 1000 

km2) 

2 2009-2013 EUROSTAT 

Shadow economy 

Extent of the shadow 

economy (% over the 

GDP) 

2 2004 
Herwartz, Tafenau, & 

Schneider (2013) 

Corruption 
Extent of corruption 

(EQI 2013) 
1-23 2013 

Charron, Dijkstra, & 

Lapuente (2014) 

Openness 

Top 15 exporting 

regions in 2010 

(billion euros) 

2 2010 PBL (2013) 

Source: Transcrime elaboration 

Correlation tests were carried out to assess the relationship between the references of OCG infiltration in legal 

businesses and a given characteristic of the infiltrated territories. A region’s value was compared with both the national 

average and the European (EU 28) average. Table A5 and Table A6 show the results of the correlation tests. 

Table A5. Relationship between OCG infiltration and characteristics of infiltrated territories. Comparison with the 

national average 

 
Technology Income 

Infrastructural 

equipment 

Shadow 

economy 
Corruption4 

OCG infiltration .298** .168 .217 .036 -.031 
**. Correlation is significant at 0.01 level (two-tailed). 

*. Correlation is significant at 0.05 level (two-tailed). 

Table A6. Relationship between OCG infiltration and characteristics of infiltrated territories. Comparison with the 

European average 

 
Technology Income 

Infrastructural 

equipment 

Shadow 

economy 
Corruption5 

OCG infiltration -.093 -.127 .003 .493** -.619** 
**. Correlation is significant at 0.01 level (two-tailed). 

*. Correlation is significant at 0.05 level (two-tailed). 

Characteristics of infiltrated business sectors 

Table A7 lists the characteristics of the business sectors that, according to the criminological literature, may be linked to 

OCG infiltration, and the data used to measure them. 

Table A7. Operationalisation of the characteristics of infiltrated business sectors 

Characteristics of 

sectors 
Data NACE level Period Source 

Profitability 

Index: Gross added 

value/Production 

value; Gross added 

value/Gross 

investments in 

tangible assets 

0-digit 2008-2012 
EUROSTAT, Istituto 

Tagliacarne 

Competition 

Index: Herfindahl-

Hirschman index; 

Gross added 

0-digit 2008-2012 
BvD ORBIS & 

EUROSTAT 

                                                
3 NUTS 1 for Sweden and UK; NUTS 2 for Italy, the Netherlands, and Slovenia. 
4 Lower values correspond to more (perceived) corruption. 
5 Lower values correspond to more (perceived) corruption. 
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value/No. enterprises 

Openness 

Foreign-controlled 

enterprises/No. 

enterprises 

0-digit 2008-2012 EUROSTAT 

Technology 

Index: Persons 

employed in science 

and technology (% of 

total employment); 

Business enterprise 

R&D expenditure 

(euro per inhabitant) 

0-digit 2008-2012 
EUROSTAT, Istituto 

Tagliacarne 

Labour intensity 
Gross added 

value/No. employees 
0-digit 2008-2012 EUROSTAT 

Business entity size 

Index: No. employees 

/ No. enterprises; No. 

of businesses with 

max 1 employee/No. 

enterprise (%) 

0-digit 2008-2012 
BvD ORBIS & 

EUROSTAT 

Source: Transcrime elaboration 

Correlation tests were carried out to assess the relationship between the references of OCG infiltration in legal 

businesses and a given characteristic of the infiltrated business sectors. A region’s value was compared with both the 

national average and the European (EU 28) average. Table A8 and Table A9 show the results of the correlation tests. 

Table A8. Relationship between OCG infiltration and characteristics of infiltrated business sectors. Comparison with the 

national average 

 
Profitability Competition Openness Technology 

Labour 

intensity 

Business 

entity size 

OCG 

infiltration 
-.047 -.171 -.377** -.126 -.100 -.106 

**. Correlation is significant at 0.01 level (two-tailed). 

*. Correlation is significant at 0.05 level (two-tailed). 

Table A9. Relationship between OCG infiltration and characteristics of infiltrated business sectors. Comparison with the 

European average 

 
Profitability Competition Openness Technology 

Labour 

intensity 

Company 

size 

OCG 

infiltration 
-.112 -.175 -.489** -.173 .212 -.179 

**. Correlation is significant at 0.01 level (two-tailed). 

*. Correlation is significant at 0.05 level (two-tailed). 

 

Chapter 3 draws on the information collected in the Database on Criminal Infiltration (DCI). Therefore, no specific 

methodology is provided for this chapter. Table A10 lists the data sources. 

Table A10. List of open sources included in the DCI 

Author Title of the study/article 
Institution/publisher/new

spaper 
Year 

Type of 

document 
Language 

Armao 

Il sistema mafia. 

Dall'economia-mondo al 

dominio locale 

Bollati Boringhieri 2000 
Academic 

study 
Italian 

Becucci 

Criminal infiltration and 

social mobilisation 

against the Mafia. Gela: a 

city between tradition 

and modernity 

Global Crime (Volume 12, 

Issue 1) 
2011 

Academic 

study 
English 

Brizzi and 

Digiansanti 
Il 416 bis parla nigeriano Narcomafie 2010 Media Italian 
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Caneppele, 

Calderoni and 

Martocchia 

Not only banks. 

Criminological models on 

the infiltration of public 

contracts by Italian 

organized crime 

Journal of Money 

Laundering Control 

(Volume 12, Issue 2) 

2009 
Academic 

study 
English 

Caneppele, 

Riccardi and 

Standridge 

Green energy and black 

economy: mafia 

investments in the wind 

power sector in Italy 

Crime, Law and Social 

Change (Volume 59, 

Issue 3) 

2013 
Academic 

study 
English 

Champeyrache 
L'infiltration mafieuse 

dans l'économie légale 
L'Harmattan 2004 

Academic 

study 
French 

Ciconte Ndrangheta padana Rubbettino 2010 
Academic 

study 
Italian 

CNEL 

L’infiltrazione della 

criminalità organizzata 

nell’economia di alcune 

regioni del Nord Italia 

CNEL 2010 
Institutional 

report 
Italian 

CNEL 

La criminalità organizzata 

cinese in Italia. 

Caratteristiche e linee 

evolutive 

CNEL 2011 
Institutional 

report 
Italian 

CPA 
Relazione annuale 

sull'Ndrangheta 

Commissione 

Parlamentare d'inchiesta 

sul fenomeno della mafia 

e sulle altre associazioni 

criminali similari 

2008 
Institutional 

report 
Italian 

CPA 

Relazione sul fenomeno 

delle infiltrazioni mafiose 

nel gioco lecito e illecito 

Commissione 

parlamentare di inchiesta 

sul fenomeno della mafia 

e sulle altre associazioni 

criminali, anche straniere 

2011 
Institutional 

report 
Italian 

CPA Relazione conclusiva 

Commissione 

parlamentare di inchiesta 

sulle attività illecite 

connesse al ciclo dei 

rifiuti 

2013 
Institutional 

report 
Italian 

DIA 

Relazione 2002, 2° 

semestre, volume 

secondo 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2002 LEA report Italian 

DIA 

Relazione 2003, 1° 

semestre, volume 

secondo 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2003 LEA report Italian 

DIA 
Relazione 2003, 2° 

semestre, volume primo 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2003 LEA report Italian 

DIA 

Relazione 2003, 2° 

semestre, volume 

secondo 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2003 LEA report Italian 

DIA 
Relazione 2004, 1° 

semestre 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2004 LEA report Italian 

DIA 
Relazione 2005, 1° 

semestre  

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2005 LEA report Italian 

DIA 
Relazione 2005, 2° 

semestre 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2005 LEA report Italian 

DIA 
Relazione 2006, 1° 

semestre 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2006 LEA report Italian 

DIA 
Relazione 2006, 2° 

semestre 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2006 LEA report Italian 

DIA 
Relazione 2007, 1° 

semestre 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2007 LEA report Italian 

DIA 
Relazione 2007, 2° 

semestre 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2007 LEA report Italian 
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DIA 
Relazione 2008, 1° 

semestre 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2008 LEA report Italian 

DIA 
Relazione 2008, 2° 

semestre 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2008 LEA report Italian 

DIA 
Relazione 2009, 1° 

semestre 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2009 LEA report Italian 

DIA 
Relazione 2009, 2° 

semestre 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2009 LEA report Italian 

DIA 
Relazione 2010, 1° 

semestre 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2010 LEA report Italian 

DIA 
Relazione 2010, 2° 

semestre 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2010 LEA report Italian 

DIA 
Relazione 2011, 1° 

semestre 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2011 LEA report Italian 

DIA 
Relazione 2011, 2° 

semestre 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2011 LEA report Italian 

DIA 
Relazione 2012, 1° 

semestre 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2012 LEA report Italian 

DIA 
Relazione 2012, 2° 

semestre 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2012 LEA report Italian 

DNA Relazione 2003-2004 
Direzione Nazionale 

Antimafia 
2004 

Institution 

report 
Italian 

DNA Relazione 2004-2005 
Direzione Nazionale 

Antimafia 
2005 

Institution 

report 
Italian 

DNA Relazione 2005-2006 
Direzione Nazionale 

Antimafia 
2006 

Institution 

report 
Italian 

DNA Relazione 2006-2007 
Direzione Nazionale 

Antimafia 
2007 

Institution 

report 
Italian 

DNA Relazione 2007-2008 
Direzione Nazionale 

Antimafia 
2008 

Institution 

report 
Italian 

DNA Relazione 2009-2010 
Direzione Nazionale 

Antimafia 
2010 

Institution 

report 
Italian 

DNA Relazione 2010-2011 
Direzione Nazionale 

Antimafia 
2011 

Institutional 

report 
Italian 

DNA Relazione 2011-2012 
Direzione Nazionale 

Antimafia 
2012 

Institution 

report 
Italian 

DNA Relazione 2012-2013 
Direzione Nazionale 

Antimafia 
2013 

Institutional 

report 
Italian 

European 

Parliament 

How Does Organised 

Crime Misuse EU Funds? 

European Parliament, 

Directorate General For 

Internal Policies - Policy 

Department D: Budgetary 

Affairs 

2011 
Institutional 

report 
English 

FATF/OECD 

Money Laundering 

through the Football 

Sector 

Financial Action Task 

Force, Groupe d'action 

financière 

2009 
Institutional 

report 
English 

Fondazione RES 

Alleanze nell'ombra : 

mafie ed economie locali 

in Sicilia e nel 

Mezzogiorno 

Donzelli Editore 2011 
Academic 

study 
Italian 

Forgione 

Ndrangheta: boss, luoghi 

e affari della mafia più 

potente al mondo: la 

relazione della 

Commissione 

parlamentare antimafia 

Baldini Castoldi Dalai 2008 
Academic 

study 
Italian 



 

18 

Galullo Operazione Stop Il Sole 24 Ore 2013 Media Italian 

Gennari 

Come il Nord Italia ha 

aperto le porte alla 

'Ndrangheta 

Mondadori 2013 
Academic 

study 
Italian 

Gratteri and 

Nicaso 
Fratelli di sangue Mondadori 2009 

Academic 

study 
Italian 

Iadeluca 
La criminalità mafiosa 

straniera in Italia 
Armando Curcio 2012 

Academic 

study 
Italian 

James Bone, Tom 

Farmery 

Italian police arrest 20 

people in €450 million 

IRA money laundering 

plot 

The Times Europe 2013 Media English 

Masciandaro and 

Pansa 

La farina del diavolo. 

Criminalità, imprese e 

banche in Italia 

Baldini Castoldi 2000 
Academic 

study 
Italian 

Massari 

La criminalità mafiosa 

nell'Italia centro 

settentrionale 

Edizioni di Comunità 2001 
Academic 

study 
Italian 

NA Mafie in Veneto Narcomafie 2012 Media Italian 

NA Inchiesta: Roma Narcomafie 2012 Media Italian 

NA Mafie in Lombardia Narcomafie 2010 Media Italian 

NA La rete delle mafie Narcomafie 2012 Media Italian 

NA Inchiesta: Mafie al nord Narcomafie 2011 Media Italian 

NA 
Ndrangheta in Valle 

d'Aosta 
Narcomafie 2012 Media Italian 

NA Inchiesta: Reggio Emilia Narcomafie 2011 Media Italian 

NA Operation Metropolis Corriere della sera 2013 Media Italian 

NA 

Operazione Cian ba 2012 

- Sequestri patrimoniali 

per 47 milioni di euro 

Guardia di Finanza 2012 
Judicial 

evidence 
Italian 

NA Mafia georgiana a Bari Corriere della Sera 2013 Media Italian 

NA 
La camorra spa del 

litorale 
Corriere della sera 2005 Media Italian 

NA 

Varese, inchiesta per 

truffa sui lavori all' 

ospedale;Appalto in 

ospedale, indagati i 

dirigenti;Inchiesta sull' 

appalto in ospedale 

Corriere della sera 2005 Media Italian 

NA 
Sequestrate le azioni 

della 'ndrangheta 
Corriere della sera 2005 Media Italian 

NA 
Inchiesta sul litorale, la 

pista della Oikos 
Corriere della sera 2005 Media Italian 

NA 

Il sindaco: le cosche 

provano a ripulirsi Ora 

investono sul mercato 

immobiliare 

Corriere della sera 2005 Media Italian 

NA 
Frode da 14 milioni, in 

cella due mafiosi 
Corriere della sera 2006 Media Italian 

NA 

Droga dalla Calabria a 

Milano Arrestati 16 boss 

del narcotraffico 

Corriere della sera 2006 Media Italian 

NA 

Rifiuti, agli arresti in 

Puglia candidato di 

Rifondazione 

Corriere della sera 2006 Media Italian 

NA 

Numeri invece di nomi 

sui «pizzini». E il boss si 

firma «uno» 

Corriere della sera 2006 Media Italian 

NA 
Porti, spiagge e ponti: 

ecco i cantieri dei clan 
Corriere della sera 2006 Media Italian 
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NA 

Affari e mafia, la 

parabola del sindaco a 

vita dei ds 

Corriere della sera 2006 Media Italian 

NA 

Mafia, sequestrato il 

tesoro del boss di Quarto 

Oggiaro 

Corriere della sera 2006 Media Italian 

NA 
«Economia mafiosa», 

aziende confiscate 
Corriere della sera 2006 Media Italian 

NA 
Mafia, Busto Arsizio è 

una succursale di Gela 
Corriere della sera 2006 Media Italian 

NA 
Mafia, sequestrate 21 

aziende 
Corriere della sera 2006 Media Italian 

NA 

Ndrangheta, assalto alle 

imprese milanesi;«Tre 

discoteche gestite dalla ' 

ndrangheta» 

Corriere della sera 2006 Media Italian 

NA 
Appalti pilotati, quattro 

arresti 
Corriere della sera 2007 Media Italian 

NA 

Night club della ' 

ndrangheta all' 

Ortomercato;Night e 

professionisti, la rete 

della cocaina;Scoperta a 

Milano la centrale della 

mafia calabrese 

Corriere della sera 2007 Media Italian 

NA 

La radio privata della 

camorra In onda le 

dediche per il clan 

Corriere della sera 2007 Media Italian 

NA 

Pizzeria confiscata alla ' 

ndrangheta Scontro sulla 

legalità a Buccinasco 

Corriere della sera 2007 Media Italian 

NA 

La sala Bingo? Ai boss 

alleati con i mafiosi d' 

America 

Corriere della sera 2007 Media Italian 

NA 
Spaccio, blitz contro la ' 

ndrangheta: 48 arresti 
Corriere della sera 2007 Media Italian 

NA 

Beni da confiscare ai 

boss, il Comune è in 

ritardo 

Corriere della sera 2007 Media Italian 

NA 

Camorra, le mani sul 

centro storico;Un fiume di 

denaro da ripulire, al 

vaglio della Dia tredici 

inchieste 

Corriere della sera 2008 Media Italian 

NA 

Nelle sale gioco spunta la 

rete della 

criminalità;Prestiti e 

garanzie, così ricicla la 

mafia 

Corriere della sera 2008 Media Italian 

NA 
Prestiti e garanzie, così 

ricicla la mafia 
Corriere della sera 2008 Media Italian 

NA 

Appalti sanità e «clinica 

degli orrori» Calabria, 18 

arresti: c' è anche Crea 

Corriere della sera 2008 Media Italian 

NA 

Le cosche al nord e a 

Roma: droga, appalti e 

ristoranti 

Corriere della sera 2008 Media Italian 

NA 

Il nuovo pentito: l' 

immondizia? Rende 

molto, più della droga 

Corriere della sera 2008 Media Italian 

NA 

La rivolta dei 

commercianti In cella gli 

uomini del racket 

Corriere della sera 2008 Media Italian 
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NA 

Le cosche all' 

Ortomercato Tra i 

fiancheggiatori vigili, 

imprenditori e bancari 

Corriere della sera 2008 Media Italian 

NA 
Ville e diamanti presi ai 

boss 
Corriere della sera 2008 Media Italian 

NA 

Ndrangheta, 8 arresti. 

«Dettavano legge nei 

cantieri» 

Corriere della sera 2008 Media Italian 

NA 

Reggio, l' ufficio di 

Scopelliti pagato dal re 

dei videopoker 

Corriere della sera 2008 Media Italian 

NA 

Il boss assassinato era 

indagato per appalti 

sospetti 

Corriere della sera 2008 Media Italian 

NA 

Rifiuti tossici, otto arresti 

Le discariche della ' 

ndrangheta 

Corriere della sera 2008 Media Italian 

NA 
Roma, la 'Nndrangheta in 

piazza di Spagna 
Corriere della sera 2008 Media Italian 

NA 

Lecco non è Gomorra ma 

per le mafie è un terreno 

di conquista 

Corriere della sera 2008 Media Italian 

NA 

Imprenditore antiracket 

accusato di riciclaggio «In 

affari con le cosche» 

Corriere della sera 2008 Media Italian 

NA 
Droga, i soldi dei boss in 

agenzie di vigilantes 
Corriere della sera 2008 Media Italian 

NA 
Mafia, no al sequestro in 

Piazza di Spagna 
Corriere della sera 2009 Media Italian 

NA 

Ville, azioni e auto di 

lusso «Ecco il tesoro dei 

boss della coca» 

Corriere della sera 2009 Media Italian 

NA 

Ndrangheta in Lombardia 

«Infiltrata anche nella 

Tav» 

Corriere della sera 2009 Media Italian 

NA 

Il Bingo dei Casalesi da 

Milano a Lucca 

Videopoker e 

scommesse, sale 

sequestrate 

Corriere della sera 2009 Media Italian 

NA 
Il «Gratta e vinci» della 

mafia 
Corriere della sera 2009 Media Italian 

NA 
Blitz contro le ecomafie 

Torna il capitano Ultimo 
Corriere della sera 2009 Media Italian 

NA 
Scacco matto al boss 

della ' ndrangheta 
Corriere della sera 2009 Media Italian 

NA 

Traffico di droga 

Stroncata holding della 

'ndrangheta 

Corriere della sera 2009 Media Italian 

NA 
Camorra e cinesi alleati 

per il traffico dei falsi 
Corriere della sera 2009 Media Italian 

NA 
Azienda legata ai boss 

nei lavori per l'Abruzzo 
Corriere della sera 2009 Media Italian 

NA 
In cella Russo il latitante 

dai vestiti firmati 
Corriere della sera 2009 Media Italian 

NA 

Minacce, bombe e 

omertà Mercato 

inquinato a Milano. In 

cella la «terza 

generazione» della 

'Ndrangheta 

Corriere della sera 2009 Media Italian 
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NA 

Fondi, gli appalti dei clan. 

Il dossier con la richiesta 

di scioglimento del 

consiglio comunale 

Corriere della sera 2009 Media Italian 

NA 

Gli affari sul letto di 

morte tradiscono il clan 

di Bari 

Corriere della sera 2009 Media Italian 

NA 

Coca della camorra nelle 

discoteche, 36 arresti. 

Sequestrato il «Faber 

Village» a Ostia 

Corriere della sera 2009 Media Italian 

NA 

E a Milano il pm 

Boccassini sospende le 

aziende 

Corriere della sera 2009 Media Italian 

NA 
Coca e appalti, le 100 

ditte della ' ndrangheta 
Corriere della sera 2010 Media Italian 

NA 

Sequestrato il tesoro 

della 'ndrangheta. 

Criminalità Beni per dieci 

milioni di euro tra 

immobili, auto di lusso. 

Blitz in 165 conti correnti 

bancari 

Corriere della sera 2010 Media Italian 

NA 

Kalashnikov, bombe e 

ortofrutta è l'asse 

Casalesi-mafia siciliana 

Corriere della sera 2010 Media Italian 

NA 

E il fratello del boss si 

riprende l' azienda 

sequestrata dall' 

antimafia 

Corriere della sera 2010 Media Italian 

NA 
Ndrangheta, il blitz nel 

bunker degli usurai 
Corriere della sera 2010 Media Italian 

NA 
Grandi appalti, la scalata 

della 'Ndrangheta 
Corriere della sera 2010 Media Italian 

NA 
Confiscato il tesoro della 

mafia 
Corriere della sera 2010 Media Italian 

NA 

Il maxi sequestro al 

Signore del vento. 

Trapani Nel patrimonio di 

Nicastri auto di lusso e 

barche 

Corriere della sera 2010 Media Italian 

NA 
Ndrangheta: 35 arresti in 

Lombardia 
Corriere della sera 2011 Media Italian 

NA 
Cantieri e movida: il 

business delle cosche 
Corriere della sera 2011 Media Italian 

NA 

Controlli speciali anti-

infiltrazioni della 

criminalità 

Corriere della sera 2011 Media Italian 

NA 
Rifiuti, la mafia all' 

assalto del Nord 
Corriere della sera 2011 Media Italian 

NA 
Yacht e limousine, ecco i 

Sopranos di Busto Arsizio 
Corriere della sera 2011 Media Italian 

NA 
Un caffè al bar delle 

cosche 
Corriere della sera 2011 Media Italian 

NA 
Sigilli al caffè Chigi, gli 

affari della 'ndrangheta 
Corriere della sera 2011 Media Italian 

NA 
Le slot machine targate 

camorra 
Corriere della sera 2011 Media Italian 

NA 
l boss riciclava soldi nella 

movida 
Corriere della sera 2011 Media Italian 

NA 

Soldi a Cal, 

l'intercettazione non 

capita 

Corriere della sera 2012 Media Italian 
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NA 

Brivio: «Una vittoria del 

patto tra Comuni per 

legalità e sicurezza» 

Corriere della sera 2012 Media Italian 

NA 

I giudici: «Soldi della 

camorra per rilanciare la 

Lazzaroni» 

Corriere della sera 2012 Media Italian 

NA 
Reggio Calabria, i clan 

dentro le municipalizzate 
Corriere della sera 2012 Media Italian 

NA 

Il tesoro della 

'ndrangheta? Nascosto 

negli alberghi stellati 

Corriere della sera 2012 Media Italian 

NA 

Fa chiudere il bar in 

odore di mafia. Sindaco 

sotto scorta 

Corriere della sera 2012 Media Italian 

NA 
Ndrangheta, il giallo della 

residenza 
Corriere della sera 2012 Media Italian 

NA 

Policlinico, bloccati i 

cantieri «Legami con la 

'Ndrangheta» 

Corriere della sera 2013 Media Italian 

NA 

Re del vento legato ai 

boss. Sigilli alle società 

dell'eolico 

Corriere della sera 2013 Media Italian 

NA 
Traffico di rifiuti, l'ombra 

della 'ndrangheta 
Corriere della sera 2013 Media Italian 

NA 
«Nuova alba» a Ostia: 

scacco ai clan 
Corriere della sera 2013 Media Italian 

NA 

Corsia preferenziale da 

sei milioni bloccata 

dall'antimafia 

Corriere della sera 2013 Media Italian 

NA 
Tagliati i tentacoli della 

mafia georgiana 
La Repubblica 2013 Media Italian 

NA 

La rete del videopoker 

200 mila slot truccate 

nelle mani delle mafie 

La Repubblica 2013 Media Italian 

NA 

Caselle, il Tar lascia 

l'appalto all'azienda in 

odore di mafia 

La Repubblica 2013 Media Italian 

NA 
Happy hour, l'ultimo 

assalto della 'ndrangheta 
La Repubblica 2013 Media Italian 

NA 

Profitti a nero per 4,5 

miliardi di euro riciclati 

ed esportati dalla mafia 

cinese 

La Repubblica 2013 Media Italian 

NA 

La mafia gestiva il ciclo 

dei rifiuti blitz della Dia, 

scattano 27 arresti 

La Repubblica 2013 Media Italian 

NA 
Casalesi, la camorra in 

sala bingo 
La Repubblica 2013 Media Italian 

NA 

Il business delle 

concessioni balneari 

Marino decapita l'ufficio 

tecnico 

La Repubblica 2013 Media Italian 

NA 

La rete del videopoker 

200 mila slot truccate 

nelle mani delle mafie 

La Repubblica 2013 Media Italian 

NA 
Mafia, sigilli al cantiere 

del rigassificatore 
La Repubblica 2013 Media Italian 

NA 
Le mani dei boss sulle 

imprese del porto 
La Repubblica 2012 Media Italian 

NA 

Minotauro, 350 anni di 

carcere a 58 affiliati della 

' ndrangheta 

La Repubblica 2012 Media Italian 

NA 

Le mani dei clan sulle 

banche Domino, indagati 

5 direttori 

La Repubblica 2012 Media Italian 
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NA 

Le mani dei clan sulle 

banche Domino, indagati 

5 direttori 

La Repubblica 2012 Media Italian 

NA 

Sequestrati beni per 20 

milioni agli affiliati della 

cosca Marando 

La Repubblica 2012 Media Italian 

NA 
Le mani di Messina 

Denaro sull' eolico 
La Repubblica 2012 Media Italian 

NA 

Patto tra imprenditori e 

criminalità per 

accaparrarsi i 

finanziamenti 

La Repubblica 2012 Media Italian 

NA 
Traffico di oro, 23 

aziende coinvolte 
La Repubblica 2012 Media Italian 

NA 
Sequestro da 210 milioni 

al prestanome dei boss 
La Repubblica 2012 Media Italian 

NA 

La mafia sul passante 

ferroviario sequestrata 

impresa vicina ai boss 

La Repubblica 2012 Media Italian 

NA 

Maxi sequestro all' 

imprenditore amico del 

boss 

La Repubblica 2012 Media Italian 

NA 

Estorsioni e minacce a 

imprenditori le mani della 

camorra sull' Emilia 

La Repubblica 2012 Media Italian 

NA 
I soldi delle cosche sui 

conti della nonna 
La Repubblica 2012 Media Italian 

NA 

Ndrangheta, processo 

Crimine due assolti e 

un'unica condanna 

La Repubblica 2012 Media Italian 

NA 
Infiltrazioni mafiose, due 

casi a Palazzo Civico 
La Repubblica 2012 Media Italian 

NA 

La mafia investe nell' 

alimentare, confiscato 

ortofrutta 

La Repubblica 2012 Media Italian 

NA 

Caltanissetta, 280 milioni 

di beni confiscati al 

costruttore Di Vincenzo 

La Repubblica 2012 Media Italian 

NA 
Sigilli alla holding del 

superlatitante 
La Repubblica 2012 Media Italian 

NA 
Ripuliva i soldi Scu: 

sequestrati 31 milioni 
La Repubblica 2012 Media Italian 

NA 
Condannato per mafia 

gestiva impresa a Lucca 
La Repubblica 2012 Media Italian 

NA 

Le mani del padrino sui 

lavori della metro in una 

lista cifrata i fornitori del 

consorzio 

La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 

Quaranta commercianti 

dagli investigatori: ai 

raggi X l' appalto di 

pulizia del Forum 

La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 
Il market Giaconia e il 

ruolo di Capizzi 
La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 
Colpo all'impero di 

Savinuccio 
La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 

Disco e bar, il business 

delle notti nelle mani del 

clan Fidanzati 

La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 

Dagli yacht alla villa di 29 

stanze Caffè Chigi, il 

tesoro della ' ndrina 

La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 
Multiservizi, la procura 

sentirà Emiliano 
La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 
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NA 

Il business del riciclaggio 

confiscati beni per 100 

milioni 

La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 
Passa allo Stato la 

Centralgas 
La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 
Il milionario che diventò 

boss 
La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 

quella Asl feudo della 

'ndrangheta dal caso 

Fortugno ai picciotti in 

corsia 

La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 

Carini, droga e assunzioni 

di mafia all' Asi il 

patriarca guidava il clan 

dai domiciliari 

La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 

Ville, auto, aziende e 

purosangue il colpo ai 

clan vale 300 milioni 

La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 

Le mani della cosca sul 

palazzo confiscato coop 

di comodo per un affare 

da 1,2 milioni 

La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 
Sequestro da 40 milioni 

al re delle scommesse 
La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 

Traffico droga, 25 arresti: 

i capi erano 4 

imprenditori 

La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 
Sigilli alla holding dei 

fratelli Graviano 
La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 
Appalti, favori e voti: il 

sindaco dei padrini 
La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 

Patti di cartello e prezzi 

imposti alla cosca il 

monopolio dell'olio 

La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 
Dia, sigilli al tesoro dei 

trafficanti 
La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 

Cosa nostra cambia e fa 

affari ecco i nuovi capi 

delle cosche 

La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 

Il tesoro dei casalesi 

anche sul Gargano scatta 

il sequestro 

La Repubblica 2011 Media Italian 

NA 

Truffe e appalti pilotati a 

Peschici ventitrè arresti, 

sindaco in manette 

La Repubblica 2010 Media Italian 

NA 

Fiancheggiatori del boss 

Liga' Tre arresti, 

sequestrati 6 milioni 

La Repubblica 2010 Media Italian 

NA 
Boss usuraio sequestrati 

otto milioni 
La Repubblica 2010 Media Italian 

NA 

Schiavi e caporali lo 

scandalo di Natale delle 

false cooperative 

La Repubblica 2010 Media Italian 

NA 

Milano, filiale Bnl in affari 

con i clan l'antimafia 

impone un commissario 

La Repubblica 2010 Media Italian 

NA 
Sequestrate ottanta case 

della mafia 
La Repubblica 2010 Media Italian 

NA 

Società off shore e 

grande liquidità ecco le 

inchieste sulla green 

economy 

La Repubblica 2010 Media Italian 

NA 
Sequestro da 25 milioni 

al palazzinaro dei boss 
La Repubblica 2010 Media Italian 
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NA 

Con l' edilizia ho fatto i 

miliardi' I boss 

controllavano tutti i 

cantieri 

La Repubblica 2010 Media Italian 

NA 

Le mani della camorra 

sui lidi del turismo: 11 

arresti, sequestrati beni 

per 500 milioni 

La Repubblica 2010 Media Italian 

NA 

Sigilli all'impero del re del 

mattone sequestro da 30 

milioni a Rizzacasa 

La Repubblica 2010 Media Italian 

NA 

Azienda sospettata di 

legami pericolosi scatta il 

cartellino giallo antimafia 

La Repubblica 2010 Media Italian 

NA 

Azienda sequestrata per 

mafia, minacce ai 

dirigenti 

La Repubblica 2009 Media Italian 

NA 

Bari, retata di colletti 

bianchi riciclavano il 

tesoro dei boss 

La Repubblica 2009 Media Italian 

NA 

Da postino a tesoriere di 

Binnu la carriera del 

'manager' Castello 

La Repubblica 2009 Media Italian 

NA 
Comune, stop al cemento 

dei boss 
La Repubblica 2009 Media Italian 

NA 

Due fratelli in lotta per il 

clan estorsioni col placet 

di Matteo 

La Repubblica 2009 Media Italian 

NA 

Società, ville e un fiume 

di denaro si scava a 

caccia del tesoro sepolto 

La Repubblica 2009 Media Italian 

NA 
Colpo da 300 milioni al 

clan Lo Piccolo 
La Repubblica 2009 Media Italian 

NA 
I boss dietro alla beauty 

farm del centro 
La Repubblica 2009 Media Italian 

NA 
Truffa sull' eolico, in 

manette il 're del vento' 
La Repubblica 2009 Media Italian 

NA 
Coca e affari, Ostia regno 

del boss 
La Repubblica 2009 Media Italian 

NA 
Maxisequestro al re degli 

hard discount 
La Repubblica 2009 Media Italian 

NA 
Ripuliti a Bagheria i fondi 

dei clan nisseni 
La Repubblica 2009 Media Italian 

NA 
Lavavano il denaro della 

'ndrangheta 
La Repubblica 2009 Media Italian 

NA 
La 'mafioimpresa' di 

Badalamenti jr 
La Repubblica 2009 Media Italian 

NA 

Colpo alla holding del 

cemento sigilli all' 

impianto degli Agate 

La Repubblica 2009 Media Italian 

NA 

Sequestrati i negozi dell' 

oro aperti con i soldi della 

droga 

La Repubblica 2009 Media Italian 

NA 

Le mani delle cosche 

mafiose sui grandi 

appalti di Agrigento 

La Repubblica 2009 Media Italian 

NA 

Doppio colpo alle cosche 

in provincia presi un 

super latitante e un 

affiliato 

La Repubblica 2009 Media Italian 

NA 
Riciclaggio sigilli per 

azienda di frutti di mare 
La Repubblica 2008 Media Italian 

NA 

Ristoranti, ville, società 

sequestrato il tesoro dei 

boss 

La Repubblica 2008 Media Italian 
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NA 

L' ex salumiere diventato 

manager con l' aiuto di 

un amico di Brusca 

La Repubblica 2008 Media Italian 

NA 

Beni e titoli per 25 milioni 

sequestrati al boss 

Bonura 

La Repubblica 2008 Media Italian 

NA 
I soldi dei boss riciclati 

nei 'gratta e vinci' 
La Repubblica 2008 Media Italian 

NA 

Dubbi sull' origine del 

milione di euro utilizzato 

per dare avvio all' attività 

Sospetti di riciclaggio 

mafioso I pm: 'Confiscate 

la sala Bingo' 

La Repubblica 2008 Media Italian 

NA 
Affari&clan, un Colosseo 

a Las Vegas 
La Repubblica 2008 Media Italian 

NA 

Cemento finto e gallerie 

di cartone le mani dei 

clan sulla Statale 106 

La Repubblica 2008 Media Italian 

NA 
Mafia, sequestro record 

al re del calcestruzzo 
La Repubblica 2008 Media Italian 

NA 
Il paravento legale dei Lo 

Piccolo 
La Repubblica 2008 Media Italian 

NA 

Rischio mafia, 

Calcestruzzi chiude in 

Sicilia 

La Repubblica 2007 Media Italian 

NA 
Le mani dei boss sull' 

affare del caffè 
La Repubblica 2006 Media Italian 

NA 
Mafia, condannati i 

costruttori Zummo 
La Repubblica 2006 Media Italian 

NA 

Ditte di pulizia della 

camorra anche in 

Regione e ospedali 

La Repubblica 2005 Media Italian 

Paoli 

Organised Crime in Italy: 

Mafia and Illegal Markets 

– Exception and 

Normality 

Springer 2004 
Academic 

study 
English 

Riccardi 

When criminals invest in 

businesses: are we 

looking in the right 

direction? An exploratory 

analysis of companies 

controlled by Mafias 

Springer 2013 
Academic 

study 
English 

Rossi and Spina I boss di Chinatown Melampo 2008 
Academic 

study 
Italian 

Sacco 

La mafia in cantiere. 

L’incidenza della 

criminalità organizzata 

nell’economia: una 

verifica empirica nel 

settore delle costruzioni 

La Torre 2010 
Academic 

study 
Italian 

Savona 

Infiltration of the public 

construction industry by 

Italian organised crime 

Willan Publishing 2010 
Academic 

study 
English 

SOS impresa 
Le mani della criminalità 

sulle imprese 
Confesercenti 2012 

Institutional 

report 
Italian 

Tenti 

Framing mafia infiltration 

in the public construction 

industry in Italy 

Quebec's commission 

d'enquete sur l'octroi et 

la gestion des contrats 

publics dans l'industrie 

de la construction 

2012 
Institutional 

report 
English 

Transcrime 

Gli investimenti delle 

mafie (Mafia 

investments) 

Transcrime 2013 
Academic 

study 
Italian 
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Transcrime 

METRiC Monitoraggio 

Dell’economia Trentina 

Contro Il Rischio 

Criminalità 

Transcrime 2013 
Academic 

study 
Italian 

Transcrime 

Studio dell’impatto degli 

investimenti delle OC 

sull’economia campana, 

Progetto Pilota 

Transcrime 2013 
Academic 

study 
Italian 

Trocchia 
Le ultime "imprese" dei 

clan 
Narcomafie 2010 Media Italian 

Varese Mafie in movimento Einaudi 2011 
Academic 

study 
Italian 

Varese 

How Mafias Take 

Advantage of 

Globalization: The 

Russian Mafia in Italy 

British Journal of 

Criminology (Volume 52, 

Issue 2) 

2011 
Academic 

study 
English 

Vigna 
Le nuove sfide della 

criminalità organizzata 
Edizioni di Comunità 2001 

Academic 

study 
Italian 

Walter Kegö, 

Alexandru 

Molcean 

Russian Speaking 

Organized Crime Groups 

in the EU 

Institute for Security and 

Development Policy 
2010 

Academic 

study 
English 

WODC 
Organised Crime Monitor 

(Fourth sweep) 

Wetenschappelijk 

Onderzoeks- en 

Documentatiecentrum 

2012 
Institutional 

report 
Dutch 

 

Chapter 4 draws on the information collected in the Database on Criminal Infiltration (DCI). Therefore, no specific 

methodology is provided for this chapter. Table A11 lists the data sources. 

Table A11. List of open sources included in the DCI 

Author Title of the study/article 
Institution/publisher/new

spaper 
Year 

Type of 

document 
Language 

Boerman, F., 

Grapendaal, M., 

& Mooij, A. 

National Threat 

asessment 2008 

organised crime. 

Korps Landelijke Politie 

Diensten (KLPD) - Dienst 

IPOL 

2008 LEA report English 

Boerman, F., 

Grapendaal, M., 

Nieuwenhuis, F., 

& Stoffers, E. 

Nationaal dreigingsbeeld 

2012. Georganiseerde 

criminaliteit 

Korps Landelijke Politie 

Diensten (KLPD) - Dienst 

IPOL 

2012 LEA report Dutch 

Bottenberg, M., & 

Jansen, M-L. 

De positie van Chinese 

masseuses in de Chinese 

beautybranche in 

Nederland. 

Onderzoeksrapport 

Fenomeenonderzoek 

Mensenhandel en 

Mensensmokkel in de 

Chinese Beautybranche 

Korps Landelijke Politie 

Diensten (KLPD) - Dienst 

Nationale Recherche 

2012 LEA report Dutch 

Bovenkerk, F. 

De commerciële teelt van 

hennep in Nederland en 

het probleem van de 

georganiseerde misdaad. 

In T. Decorte (eds), 

Cannabisteelt in de lage 

landen. Perspectieven op 

de cannabismarkt in 

België en Nederland (pp. 

175-184) 

Acco 2008 
Academic 

study 
Dutch 
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Brummelkamp, 

G. 

Preventieve doorlichting 

van de taxibranche. Een 

analyse van de 

kwetsbaarheid van de 

taxibranche voor de 

georganiseerde 

criminaliteit. 

EIM bv. 2008 
Institutional 

report 
Dutch 

Centrum voor 

Criminaliteitsprev

entie en 

Veiligheid (CCV) 

Handboek bestuurlijke 

aanpak georganiseerde 

criminaliteit 

Centrum voor 

Criminaliteitspreventie en 

Veiligheid (CCV) 

2011 
Institutional 

report 
Dutch 

Deloitte 

Inzicht in verwevenheid. 

Knelpunten en 

mogelijkheden bij 

uitwisseling van 

gegevens en informatie 

ter bestrijding van 

verwevenheid tussen 

onder- en bovenwereld 

Deloitte Bijzonder 

Onderzoek & 

Integriteitsadvies B.V. 

2009 
Institutional 

report 
Dutch 

Derksen, T., & 

Klein, D. 

Bestuurlijke coalities 

tegen criminaliteit. De 

juridische context van de 

onderlinge uitwisseling 

van informatie tussen de 

betrokken partners bij de 

bestuurlijke aanpak van 

georganiseerde 

criminaliteit. 

Politieacademie 

Apeldoorn 
2010 LEA report Dutch 

Faber, W. & 

Nunen, A. 

From an unsuspected 

source: evaluation of the 

system concerning the 

reporting of unusual 

transactions 

WODC 2004 
Academic 

study 

Dutch 

(English 

summary) 

Ferwerda, H., 

Arts, N., De Bie, 

E., & Van Leiden, 

I. 

Georganiseerde 

autodiefstal. Kenmerken 

en achtergronden van 

een illegale branche in 

beeld gebracht. 

Uitgeverij SWP 2005 
Academic 

study 

Dutch 

(English 

summary) 

Ferwerda, H., 

Staring, R., De 

Vries Robbé, E., 

Van de Bunt, J. 

Malafide activiteiten in 

de vastgoedsector. Een 

exploratief onderzoek 

naar aard, actoren en 

aanpak. 

Erasmus Universiteit 

Rotterdam & Advies en 

Onderzoeksgroep Beke 

2007 
Academic 

study 
Dutch 

Ferwerda, H., Van 

Ham, T., & 

Bremmers, B. 

Georganiseerde 

voertuigcriminaliteit in 

Nederland. Een beeld 

van de omvang, 

kenmerken werkwijzen 

en aanpak anno 2013 

Bekereeks 2013 
Academic 

study 
Dutch 

Fijnaut, C., 

Bovenkerk, F., 

Bruinsma, G., & 

Van de Bunt, H. 

Organized crime in 

legitimate sectors of the 

economy: fact or fiction? 

In M.A. Beare (Ed) The 

library of essays on 

transnational crime (pp. 

475-507). 

Ashgate 2013 
Academic 

study 
English 

Financial 

Intelligence Unit- 

Nederland 

Jaaroverzicht 2012 FIU-Nederland 2013 
Institutional 

report 
Dutch 

Flight, S., 

Bogaerst, S., 

Korf, D., & Siegel, 

D. 

Aanpak georganiseerde 

criminaliteit in drie 

proeftuinen. Eerste 

bevindingen 

WODC 2010 
Academic 

study 
Dutch 



 

 29 

Forgione F. 

Mafia export. Come 

'Ndrangheta, Cosa Nostra 

e Camorra hanno 

colonizzato il mondo 

Baldini Castoldi Dalai 2009 
Academic 

study 
Italian 

Gemeente 

Amsterdam 

Projectgroep Emergo. De 

gezamenlijke aanpak van 

de zware 

(georganiseerde) 

misdaad in het hart van 

Amsterdam. 

Boom Amsterdam 2011 
Institutional 

report 
Dutch 

Gemeente 

Rotterdam. 

Directie veiligheid 

Rotterdam succesvol in 

aanpak georganiseerde 

criminaliteit. Resultaten 

jaarrapportage 2010. 

Actieprogramma 

maatschappelijke 

veiligheid. 

Gemeente Rotterdam. 

Directie veiligheid 
2011 

Institutional 

report 
Dutch 

Gemeente 

Rotterdam. 

Directie veiligheid 

Jaarverslag 

Maatschappelijke 

integriteit. 

Gemeente Rotterdam. 

Directie veiligheid 
2013 

Institutional 

report 
Dutch 

Grapendaal, M., 

Den Drijver, M., 

De Miranda, H., & 

Van der Zee, S. 

Georganiseerde 

bovenregionale 

vermogenscriminaliteit. 

Verslag van een 

onderzoek voor het 

Nationaal dreigingsbeeld 

2008. 

Korps Landelijke Politie 

Diensten (KLPD) - Dienst 

IPOL 

2008 LEA report Dutch 

Holvast, N., Mein, 

A., Huisman, K., 

Meerts, C., & Van 

de Bunt, H. 

De vastgoedfraude in 

perspectief 

Sanctierecht & 

Compliance 3(3/4), 113-

120 

2012 
Academic 

study 
Dutch 

Huberts, L, & 

Nelen, H. 

Corruptie in het 

Nederlandse openbaar 

bestuur: omvang, aard en 

afdoening 

WODC 2005 
Academic 

study 

Dutch 

(English 

summary) 

Huisman, W. 

Gemeenten en de strijd 

tegen de georganiseerde 

misdaad 

Tijdschrift voor veiligheid, 

9(3), 45-59 
2010 

Academic 

study 
Dutch 

Joldersma, C., 

Teeven, F., De 

Wit, J., Heerts, T., 

Anker, E., & De 

Roon, R. 

Rapport van de 

parlementaire werkgroep 

verwevenheid 

onderwereld/bovenwerel

d 

Dutch Government 2008 
Institutional 

report 
Dutch 

Kleemans, E. 

Crossing Borders: 

Organised Crime in the 

Netherlands 

Springer 2004 
Academic 

study 
English 

Kleemans, E., & 

De Poot, C. 

Criminal careers in 

organized crime and 

social opportunity 

structure 

European journal of 

criminology 5(1), 69-98 
2008 

Academic 

study 
English 

Kleemans, E., & 

De Poot, C. 

Criminele carrières in de 

georganiseerde misdaad 
WODC 2007 

Academic 

study 

Dutch 

(English 

summary) 

Kleemans, E., & 

Van de Bunt, H. 

Organised crime, 

occupations and 

opportunity 

Global crime 9(3), 185-

197 
2008 

Academic 

study 
English 

Kleemans, E., & 

Van de Bunt, H. 

Occupations and 

opportunity. New findings 

from the Dutch Organised 

crime monitor 

CIROC Nieuwsbrief, 8(1), 

1-2 
2008 Other English 
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Kleemans, E., 

Brienen, M., Van 

de Bunt, H., 

Kouwenberg, R., 

Paulides, G., & 

Barensen, J. 

Georganiseerde 

criminaliteit in 

Nederland. Tweede 

rapportage op basis van 

de WODC-monitor. 

WODC 2002 
Academic 

study 

Dutch 

(English 

summary) 

Kleemans, E., 

Kruisbergen, E., 

& Kouwenberg, 

R. 

Women, brokerage and 

transnational organized 

crime. Empirical results 

from the Dutch Organized 

crime monitor. 

Trends in organized 

crime, published online 

June 21 

2013 
Academic 

study 
English 

Klerks, P., & Kop, 

N. 

Maatschappelijke trends 

en criminaliteitsrelevante 

factoren. Een overzicht 

ten behoeve van het 

dreigingsbeeld 

criminaliteit met een 

georganiseerd karakter 

2008-2012. 

Politieacademie 

Apeldoorn 
2007 LEA report Dutch  

KLPD - National 

Crime Squad 

The ’Ndrangheta in the 

Netherlands. 

The nature, criminal 

activities and modi 

operandi on Dutch 

territory. 

National Crime Squad 2011 
Institutional 

report 
English 

Korps Landelijke 

Politiediensten 

(KLPD) 

De Ndrangheta in 

Nederland. Aard, 

criminele activiteiten en 

werkwijze op 

Nederlandse bodem. 

Korps Landelijke Politie 

Diensten (KLPD) - Dienst 

Nationale Recherche 

2011 LEA report Dutch 

Korps Landelijke 

Politiediensten 

(KLPD) 

Criminaliteitsbeeldanalys

e. Turkse georganiseerde 

criminaliteit in Nederland 

2002-2003 

Korps Landelijke Politie 

Diensten (KLPD) - Dienst 

IPOL 

2004 LEA report Dutch 

Korps Landelijke 

Politiediensten 

(KLPD) 

Nationaal dreigingsbeeld 

2004. Zware of 

georganiseerde 

criminaliteit 

Korps Landelijke Politie 

Diensten (KLPD) - Dienst 

IPOL 

2004 LEA report Dutch 

Kortekaas, J. 

Risicoanalyse 

georganiseerde 

criminaliteit : uitwerking 

instrumentarium en 

toepassing op de ICT-

ontwikkelingen 

Reed Business 

Information Bv 
2005 

Academic 

study 

Dutch 

(english 

summary) 

Kruisbergen, 

E.W., Van de 

Bunt, H.G., & 

Kleemans, E.R. 

Georganiseerde 

criminaliteit in 

Nederland. Vierde 

rapportage op basis van 

de monitor 

georganiseerde 

criminaliteit 

WODC And Erasmus 

University Rotterdam 
2012 

Academic 

study 

Dutch 

(English 

summary) 

Kuppens, J. 

Georganiseerde diefstal 

in de wegtransportsector. 

Inhaalrace voor 

zwaargewichten 

CIROC Nieuwsbrief, 6(2), 

2-3 
2006 Other Dutch 

Kuppens, J., De 

Vries Robbé, E., 

Van Leiden, I., & 

Ferwerda, H. 

Zware jongens op de 

weg. Een onderzoek naar 

de georganiseerde 

diefstal in de 

wegtransportsector. 

Bureau Beke 2006 
Academic 

study 
Dutch 

Kuppens, J., Van 

Wijk, A., & 

Nieuwenhuis, A. 

Uitbuiting en 

mensenhandel binnen 

een vrij beroep. 

Secondant, 21(3/4), 56-

59 
2007 

Academic 

study 
Dutch 
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Lankhorst, F., & 

Nelen, H. 

Professional services and 

organised crime in the 

Netherlands 

Crime, Law and Social 

Change,42(2-3), 163-

188 

2005 
Academic 

study 
English 

Meerdinkveldboo

m, M., & 

Terpstra, J. 

Signalering en advisering 

door de politie van 

georganiseerde 

criminaliteit 

Korps Landelijke Politie 

Diensten (KLPD) - Dienst 

Nationale Recherche 

2010 LEA report Dutch 

NA 

Onderwereld actief in 

strandhoreca Zandvoort, 

Bloemendaal en Velsen 

Haarlems Dagblad 
21/12/201

2 
Media Dutch 

NA 

Twee jaar voor 

'oliemannetje' 

vastgoedfraudeurs 

Volkskrant 
30/11/201

2 
Media Dutch 

NA 
Criminelen infiltreren bij 

zorgverzekeraars 
Volkskrant 

15/08/201

2 
Media Dutch 

NA 
Oud-Oranjespeler: 

Afgeperst door Kris J. 
Het Algemeen Dagblad 

20/01/201

2 
Media Dutch 

NA 

Holleeder: 9 jaar na 

hoger beroep; hof acht 

lidmaatschap criminele 

organisatie, afpersen, 

witwassen en bedreiging 

bewezen 

De Volkskrant 
04/07/200

9 
Media Dutch 

NA 

Zaak tegen Grijpink, Van 

Gelderen en Janmaat 

geseponeerd: gebrek aan 

bewijs 

Het Parool 
21/12/200

7 
Media Dutch 

NA 
Grote fraude in 

Amsterdamse Oliehaven 
Volkskrant 

08/11/200

7 
Media Dutch 

NA 

Veroordeling apotheker 

en artsen voor 

pillenhandel 

Het Financieel Dagblad 
09/12/200

6 
Media Dutch 

NA 

Veroordeling apotheker 

en artsen voor 

pillenhandel 

Het Financieel Dagblad 
09/12/200

6 
Media Dutch 

NA 

Via Air Holland kropen 

miljoenen aan zwart geld 

naar de bovenwereld 

Het Financieel Dagblad 
21/11/200

6 
Media Dutch 

NA 
Eis 6 jaar cel voor GSM 

fraude 
De Gelderlander 

09/07/200

4 
Media Dutch 

Nationaal 

Rapporteur 

Mensenhandel 

en Seksueel 

Geweld tegen 

Kinderen 

Mensenhandel. Negende 

rapportage van de 

Nationaal Rapporteur. 

Nationaal Rapporteur 

Mensenhandel en 

Seksueel Geweld tegen 

Kinderen 

2013 
Academic 

study 

Dutch 

(English 

factsheet) 

Nelen, H. 
Real estate and serious 

forms of crime 

International Journal of 

Social Economics, 

35(10), 751-762 

2008 
Academic 

study 
English 

Nelen, H., & 

Huisman, W. 

Gotham Unbound Dutch 

Style. The administrative 

approach to organized 

crime in Amsterdam. 

Crime, Law and Social 

Change, 48 (3-5), 87-103 
2007 

Academic 

study 
English 

Nelen, H., & 

Lankhorst, F. 

Integriteitsproblemen van 

advocaten en notarissen 

in relatie tot 

georganiseerde 

criminaliteit 

Justitiele Verkenningen 2005 
Academic 

study 
Dutch 
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Nelen, H., & 

Ritzen, L. 

How they still try to get 

away with it: crime in the 

Dutch real estate sector 

before and after the 

crisis. In: S. Handelman & 

D.C. Brotherton (Eds.), 

How they got away with it: 

white collar criminals and 

the financial meltdown 

(pp. 223-245). New York: 

Columbia University 

Press. 

Columbia University 

Press 
2012 

Academic 

study 
English 

Nieuwenhuis, F., 

& Pannekoek, M. 

Werkwijzen van 

georganiseerde 

criminaliteit 

Korps Landelijke Politie 

Diensten (KLPD) - Dienst 

IPOL 

2012 LEA report Dutch 

Openbaar 

Ministerie 

Verantwoording aanpak 

georganiseerde 

criminaliteit 2012 

Openbaar Ministerie 2013 LEA report Dutch 

Openbaar 

Ministerie 

Rapportage landelijk 

coördinator 

verwevenheid boven- en 

onderwereld 

Openbaar Ministerie 2012 LEA report Dutch 

Pennings, L., 

Bruinsma, G., & 

Weerman, F. 

Jeugd en georganiseerde 

misdaad: een empirische 

verkenning van de 

betrokkenheid van 

jongeren bij illegale 

handel. 

Tijdschrift voor 

Criminologie, 48(1), 51-

66. 

2006 
Academic 

study 
Dutch 

Politie Nederland 

Politie: Partner in de 

bestuurlijke aanpak. De 

gezamenlijke aanpak van 

(georganiseerde) 

criminaliteit 

Politie Bestuurlijke 

Aanpak 
2012 LEA report Dutch 

Regiegroep 

Aanpak Misbruik 

Vastgoedtaak 

Aanpak misbruik en 

criminaliteit in de 

vastgoedsector (2008-

2011): overzicht stand 

van zaken maatregelen 

in het beleidsprogramma 

Rijksoverheid 2012 
Institutional 

report 
Dutch 

Regionaal 

Informatie en 

expertisecentrum 

(RIEC) 

Jaarverslag RIEC/LIEC 

2011. Een 

georganiseerde overheid 

tegen georganiseerde 

criminaliteit. 

Regionaal Informatie en 

Expertise Centrum (RIEC) 

en Landelijk Informatie 

en Expertise Centrum 

(LIEC) 

2012 
Institutional 

report 
Dutch 

Regionaal 

Informatie en 

expertisecentrum 

(RIEC) 

Analysemethode 'inzicht 

in de vastgoedsector' 

Regionaal Informatie en 

expertisecentrum (RIEC) 
2011 

Institutional 

report 
Dutch 

Rovers, G., & De 

Vries Robbé, E. 

Interne criminaliteit in de 

logistieke sector 

Bureau voor Toegepast 

Veiligheidsonderzoek 

(BTVO) 

2005 
Institutional 

report 
Dutch 

Schoenmakers, 

Y., Bremmers, B., 

& Kleemans, E. 

Strategic versus 

emergent crime groups: 

the case of Vietnamese 

cannabis cultivation in 

the Netherlands 

Global Crime 14(4), 321-

340 
2013 

Academic 

study 
English 

Schoot 

Organised crime 

prevention in the 

Netherlands: Exposing 

the effectiveness of 

preventive measures 

Eleven International 

Publishing 
2006 

Academic 

study 
English 

Siddle J. 

Anatomy of Cocky's crime 

empire: Curtis Warren 

and his '£200m 

worldwide web 

Liverpool Echo 2013 Media English 
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Siegel, D. 

Mobiel banditisme. Oost- 

en Centraal-Europese 

rondtrekkende criminele 

groepen in Nederland 

Politie en Wetenschap 2013 LEA report Dutch 

Siesling, M., 

Smeets, B., & 

Spapens, A. 

Geldbomen op Zolder. 

Thuiskwekers van 

hennep in beeld. 

IVA beleidsonderzoek en 

advies 
2011 

Academic 

study 
Dutch 

Smits, J., Sibma, 

A., Roodnat, J., & 

Schudde, B. 

Bestuurlijke aanpak 

georganiseerde 

criminaliteit. Onderzoek 

naar de stand van zaken 

in 2012 

Arena consulting group 

BV 
2013 

Institutional 

report 
Dutch 

Soudijn, M., & 

Akse, T. 

Witwassen. 

Crimininaliteitsbeeldanal

yse 2012 

Korps Landelijke Politie 

Diensten (KLPD) - Dienst 

IPOL 

2012 LEA report Dutch 

Spapens, A. 

Barrières opwerpen voor 

criminele 

bedrijfsprocessen. 

Justitiele Verkenningen, 

37(2), 10-22 
2011 

Academic 

study 
Dutch 

Stuurgroep 

geïntegreerde 

aanpak 

ondermijnende 

criminaliteit 

(GOC) 

Integraal, tenzij… 

Leidraad om samen het 

criminele 

ondernemingsklimaat te 

verslechteren 

Ministerie van veiligheid 

en justitie 
2013 

Institutional 

report 
Dutch 

Te Pest, M., 

Nieuwdorp, S., 

Smeets, B., & 

Van Wijnen, E. 

Verwevenheid van onder- 

en bovenwereld bij 

georganiseerde 

criminaliteit. Een 

overzichtsstudie: aard en 

oorzaken. 

Regionaal Informatie en 

Expertise Centrum (RIEC) 

Zuid-West Nederland & 

Openbaar Ministerie (OM) 

2012 LEA report Dutch 

Unger, B., & 

Ferwerda, J. (Eds) 

Money laundering in the 

real estate sector; 

suspicious properties 

Edward Elgar Publishing 2011 
Academic 

study 
English 

Unger, B., 

Ferwerda, J., 

Nelen, H., & 

Ritzen, L. 

Detecting criminal 

investment in the Dutch 

real estate sector 

Ministerie van Financiën 2010 
Academic 

study 
English 

UNODC 

Estimating illicit financial 

flows resulting from drug 

trafficking and other 

transnational organized 

crimes 

UNODC 2011 
Institutional 

report 
English 

van de Bunt et al. 

Organized crime in the 

Netherlands-Third report 

of the Organized Crime 

Monitor 

WODC 2007 
Institutional 

report 
English 

van de Bunt, H. 
Rekeningen vereffenen in 

de bouw 

Tijdschrift voor 

Criminologie, 50(2), 130-

147 

2008 
Academic 

study 
Dutch 

van de Bunt, H., 

& Huisman, K. 

Misleidende 

handelspraktijken. Een 

onderzoek naar de aard, 

achtergronden en 

aanpak van 

acquisitiefraude in 

Nederland (OMV-reeks) 

Boom Juridische 

uitgevers 
2009 

Academic 

study 
Dutch 

van de Bunt, H., 

& Kleemans, E. 

Georganiseerde 

criminaliteit in 

Nederland. Derde 

rapportage op basis van 

de monitor 

georganiseerde 

criminaliteit 

WODC 2007 
Academic 

study 

Dutch 

(English 

summary) 
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van de Bunt, H., 

Holvast, N., 

Huisman, K.;, 

Meerts, C., Mein, 

A., & Struik, D. 

Bestuurlijke rapportage 

vastgoedfraudezaak 

'Klimop' 

Erasmus School of Law & 

Verwey-Jonker instituut 
2011 

Academic 

study 
Dutch 

van de Bunt, H., 

Huisman, K., & 

van Wingerde, K. 

Gewone beroepen en 

georganiseerde 

criminaliteit 

Tijdschrift voor 

Criminologie (53)2, 86-

99 

2011 
Academic 

study 
Dutch 

van de Bunt, H., 

van Koningsveld, 

T., Kroeze, M., 

van der Vorm, B., 

Wezeman, J., van 

Wingerde, c., & 

Zonnenberg, A. 

Misbruik van 

buitenlandse 

rechtspersonen. Een 

verkennend onderzoek 

naar de aard, omvang en 

ernst van misbruik van 

buitenlandse 

rechtspersonen in 

Nederland 

WODC 2007 
Academic 

study 

Dutch 

(English 

summary) 

van der Leest, 

W., & 

Moerenhout, L. 

Nieuwe vormen van 

georganiseerde 

criminaliteit, in het 

bijzonder afpersing en 

medicijnvervalsing 

Korps Landelijke Politie 

Diensten (KLPD) - Dienst 

IPOL 

2012 LEA report Dutch 

van der Schoot, 

C. 

Organised crime 

prevention in the 

Netherlands: Exposing 

the effectiveness of 

preventive measures 

Boom Juridische 

uitgevers 
2006 

Academic 

study 
English 

van Gestel, B. 

Vastgoed & fout: een 

analyse van twaalf 

strafrechtelijke 

opsporingsonderzoeken 

naar illegale en criminele 

praktijken in de 

woningsector. 

WODC 2008 
Academic 

study 

Dutch 

(English 

summary) 

van Koppen, V. 
Involvement mechanisms 

for organized crime 

Crime, Law and Social 

change, 59(1), 1-20 
2013 

Academic 

study 
English 

van Koppen, V., & 

De Poot, C. 

The truck driver who 

bought a café: offenders 

on their involvement 

mechanisms for 

organised crime 

European Journal of 

Criminology 10(1), 74-88 
2013 

Academic 

study 
English 

van Koppen, V., 

De Poot, C., 

Kleemans, E., & 

Nieuwbeerta, P. 

Criminal Trajectories in 

Organized crime 

British journal of 

Criminology 50(1), 102-

123 

2010 
Academic 

study 
English 

van Leiden, I., De 

Vries Robbé, E. & 

Ferwerda, H. 

Je bedrijf of je leven. Aard 

en aanpak van afpersing 

in het bedrijfsleven. 

BureauBeke 2007 
Academic 

study 

Dutch 

(English 

summary) 

WODC 
Organised Crime Monitor 

(Fourth sweep) 

Wetenschappelijk 

Onderzoeks- en 

Documentatiecentrum 

2012 
Institutional 

report 
Dutch 

 

Chapter 5 draws on the information collected in the Database on Criminal Infiltration (DCI). Therefore, no specific 

methodology is provided for this chapter. Table A12 lists the data sources. 

Table A12. List of open sources included in the DCI 

Author Title of the study/article 
Institution/publisher/new

spaper 
Year 

Type of 

document 
Language 

Anuška Delić Ulica da, zakon bo vzel Delo; Večer 2011 Media Slovenian 
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Barbara Guče 

Sodišče ni našlo dovolj 

dokazov za pranje 

denarja 

Delo 2001 Media Slovenian 

Barbara Hočevar; 

Marjana Hanc; 

Jure Predanič; 

Mojca Furlan - 

Rus 

Dominikanske plesalke: 

Rupar napoveduje tožbo 

Šteru Polovica zaslužka v 

žepe šefom 

Delo; Dnevnik 2008 Media Slovenian 

Slovenian Police OK Ribica Slovenian Police 2007-2008 LEA Report  Slovenian 

Boštjan Fon 
Vklenili bratsko heroinsko 

navezo 
Slovenske novice; Večer 2008 Media Slovenian 

čk Četverica ostala v priporu Večer 2002 Media Slovenian 

čk 

Prijeli dvojico, osumljeno 

zlorabe 

prostitucije 

Večer 2004 Media Slovenian 

Damijana Žišt 
Namesto plesa vdajanje 

prostituciji 
Večer 2006 Media Slovenian 

Damjana Žist 

"Lovke" zrdužbe so 

segale v države nekdanje 

Jugoslavije 

Večer 2002 Media Slovenian 

Damjana Žist 
Sporne izjave tudi na 

sodišču 
Večer 2003 Media Slovenian 

Damjana Žist Silili so jih v prostitucijo Večer 2006 Media Slovenian 

Boštjan Fon 
Le mama Marija ali tudi 

madam? 
Slovenske Novice 2008 Media Slovenian 

Elizabeta 

Planinšič; Vesna 

Lovrec; Tina 

Kodre 

Denar od prostitucije v 

avte in nepremičnine 
Večer 2013 Media Slovenian 

Gordana Possnig 
Kdo je vedel za prevoz 

mamil? 
Večer 2010 Media Slovenian 

Gordana 

Stojiljković 
Zapor za vse obdolžence Dnevnik 2001 Media Slovenian 

Iva Ropac 
Pranje »umazanega« 

denarja? 
Večer; Delo 2004 Media Slovenian 

Iztok Umer 
Najprej racija, zdaj osem 

let ječe 
Slovenske novice; Večer 2006 Media Slovenian 

Iztok Zavadlal 

Trgovina in tihotapstvo 

ljudi na Policijski upravi 

Koper 

FVV 2007 
Academic 

study 
Slovenian 

John Siddle 

Anatomy of Cocky's crime 

empire: Curtis Warren 

and his '£200m 

worldwide web 

Liverpool Echo 2013 Media English 

Marjan Hanc 

Iz pripora ni smel v 

porodnišnico gledat 

dojenčka 

Delo; Večer 2013 Media Slovenian 

Miran Šubic 
V kokainski navezi tudi 

ropar SKB 
Dnevnik 2013 Media Slovenian 

Mojca Furlan-Rus 
Zaradi kokaina za 

rešetke 
Dnevnik 2002 Media Slovenian 

Mojca Furlan-Rus 
Plačilo ilegalcev prijavil 

davkariji 
Dnevnik 2004 Media Slovenian 

Mojca Pajnik; 

Urša Kavčič 

Sodne prakse, povezane 

s trgovanjem z ljudmi in 

prostitucijo v Sloveniji 

[Case law related to 

trafficking in human 

beings and prostitution in 

Slovenia] 

Revija za kriminalistiko in 

kriminologijo [Journal of 

Criminalistics and 

Criminology] 

2008 
Academic 

study 
Slovenian 

Oste Bakal 
Ksenija Karlo obtožuje 

ostale soobtožene 
Večer 2002 Media Slovenian 
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Peter Lovšin 

Tožilstvo terja od 

zvodniškega para za 

poldrugi milijon 

premoženja 

Dnevnik 2013 Media Slovenian 

Primož Knez 
Mentor in mamilarski 

vajenci 
Dnevnik 2004 Media Slovenian 

Simona Zavratnik 

Zimic; 

UršaKavčič; 

Mojca Pajnik; 

Petra Lesjak-

Tušek 

Kje v sestavljanki: 

trgovanje z ljudmi v 

Sloveniji, iz in preko nje : 
s ̌tudija primera 

International 

Organization for 

Migration 

2005 
Institutional 

report 
Slovenian 

Sladžan 

Umjenovič 

Tihotapili 28 kilogramov 

kanabisa 
Večer 2003 Media Slovenian 

Sladžan 

Umjenovič; 

Primož Knez 

Aretirali so ga v Romuniji 

Vrh balkanske heroinske 

poti v Sloveniji 

Večer; Dnevnik 
5/10/2002

; 8/3/2002 
Media Slovenian 

Slovenian Police 
Operacija [Operation] 

"Bara" 
Slovenian Police 2003 

Judicial 

evidence 

Slovenian; 

English 

STA 

Dva osumljenca 

preprodaje mamil iz 

ponedeljkove akcije že v 

priporu 

Dnevnik 2013 Media Slovenian 

Sven Berdon 
Tuji policist razkril 

slovensko združbo 
Dnevnik; Večer 2010 Media Slovenian 

Tatjana 

Tanackovič 
Dejanja prav vsi zanikajo Dnevnik 2001 Media Slovenian 

Tina Recek 
Pomagal le kot Albanec 

Albancu 
Večer 2005 Media Slovenian 

Tina Recek 
Pot do dekleta na klic 

vodila penina 
Večer 2012 Media Slovenian 

Vesna Lovrec 
Zapor grozi osmim 

zvodnikom 
Večer 2011 Media Slovenian 

Vesna Lovrec 

Mamilarska veriga Buli; 

Razkrili mamilarsko 

združbo 

Večer 
4/9/2010; 

3/4/2010 
Media Slovenian 

Vesna Lovrec 
V ozadju posla je bilo 

mamilo, ne eksploziv 
Večer 2010 Media Slovenian 

Vesna Lovrec 
Trije priznali krivdo, 

dobavitelj jo je zanikal 
Večer 2012 Media Slovenian 

Vojko Zakrajšek; 

Iztok Umer 

Med fugirno maso 

tihotapili kokain 
Slovenske novice; Večer 2008 Media Slovenian 

Žarko Hojnik 
Trgovci s smrtjo ne 

počivajo 
Delo; Večer 2004 Media Slovenian 

zš 
Organizirali so 

prostitucijo 
Večer 2003 Media Slovenian 

 

Chapter 6 draws on the information collected in the Database on Criminal Infiltration (DCI). Therefore, no specific 

methodology is provided for this chapter. Table A13 lists the data sources. 

Table A13. List of open sources included in the DCI 

Author Title of the study/article 
Institution/publisher/new

spaper 
Year 

Type of 

document 
Language 

Johanna 

Skinnari, Anders 

Stenström, Lars 

Korsell 

Otillåten påverkan mot 

företag 
Brå 2012 

Academic 

study 
Swedish 

NA 
Myndighet utnyttjas för 

bedrägerier 
Dagens Nyheter 2013 Media Swedish 
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NA 
Bolagsfuskare slipper 

kontroll 
Kristianstadsbladet 2013 Media Swedish 

NA 

Utvärdering av 

arbetsmetoder vid 

"städutredningar" 

Skatteverket, 

Skattebrottsenheten, 

EBM 

2009 
Institutional 

report 
Swedish 

NA 
”Kriminell infiltration ökar 

inom idrottsrörelsen” 
Dagens Nyheter 2013 Media Swedish 

NA 
"Aik fick12 miljoner från 

misstänkta bedrägerier" 
Sveriges radio 2013 Media Swedish 

NA 
Tidigare chefer i Panaxia 

åtalas för grova brott 
Ekobrottsmyndigheten 2013 

Institutional 

report 
Swedish 

NA 
Våldssupportrar infiltrerar 

AIK 
Svenska dagbladet 2013 Media Swedish 

NA 

Åtgärder mot fusk och 

felaktigheter med 

assistansersättningen 

Statens offentliga 

utredningar 
2012 

Institutional 

report 
Swedish 

NA 

Temagranskning 

avseende 

brottsanmälningar i 

konkurs 2010 

Kronofogden; 

Tillsynsmyndigheten i 

konkurser 

2010 
Institutional 

report 
Swedish 

NA Brotten följer i deras spår Aftonbladet 2013 Media Swedish 

NA 
Par anhölls efter fräck 

företagskapning 
Sveriges radio 2009 Media Swedish 

NA 

Eastair ab har blivit utsatt 

för ett försök till 

företagskapning 

Bolagsfakta 2011 Media Swedish 

NA 
Missbruk av statlig 

lönegaranti - delrapport 
Kronofogden 2010 

Institutional 

report 
Swedish 

NA 
Missbruk av statlig 

lönegaranti - slutrapport 

SAMEB (cooperation 

between different 

authorities) 

2011 
Institutional 

report 
Swedish 

NA 

Extramöte efter 

krögarupprop mot våld 

och hot 

Värmlands folkblad 2013 Media Swedish 

NA 
Företagare blev 

kidnappad 
Corren 2013 Media Swedish 

NA 
Maffian ligger bakom 

flera av bluffbolagen 
Expressen 2013 Media Swedish 

NA 
Misstänkt bedragare 

gripen för ny härva 
Expressen 2013 Media Swedish 

NA 
Attacken som angår oss 

alla 
Expressen 2013 Media Swedish 

NA 
Han vill sätta punkt för 

punktskattebrott 
Dagens opinion 2013 Media Swedish 

NA 
Allt mer smuggling efter 

EU-inträdet 
Transportarbetaren 2013 Media Swedish 

NA 

Sluta gynna oseriösa 

företagare vid 

upphandlingar 

Dagens samhälle 2013 Media Swedish 

NA 
EBM Årsredovisning 

2010 
Ekobrottsmyndigheten 2011 LEA report Swedish 

NA 
EBM Årsredovisning 

2011 
Ekobrottsmyndigheten 2012 LEA report Swedish 

NA 
EBM Årsredovisning 

2012 
Ekobrottsmyndigheten 2013 LEA report Swedish 

NA 
Frisör inför rätta i 

miljonåtal 
Länstidningen Södertälje 2013 Media Swedish 

NA 
40 misstänkta i 

assistanshärva 
Länstidningen Södertälje 2013 Media Swedish 

NA 
Arbetschefen mutades i 

tio år 
Byggnadsarbetaren 2010 Media Swedish 

NA 

Allt vanligare att 

kriminella köper in sig i 

företag 

Metro 2011 Media Swedish 
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NA 
Fakturaskojarna göder 

Malmös maffia 
Fokus 2012 Media Swedish 

NA 
Skydda ditt företag mot 

bedragare 

Stiftelsen för 

internetinfrastruktur 
2013 

Institutional 

report 
Swedish 

NA 
Kriminella frisörer tvingar 

andra till fusk 
Corren 2012 Media Swedish 

NA 
Grovt kriminella bakom 

stor ökning av ekobrott 
SVT Rapport 2012 Media Swedish 

NA 
Kriminellt gäng bakom 

utpressning? 

SR Nyheter P4 

Östergötland 
2009 Media Swedish 

NA 

Rapport om den 

ekonomiska 

brottsligheten 

Ekorådet 

(Ekobrottsmyndigheten, 

Bolagsverket, 

Brottsförebyggande 

rådet, 

Finansinspektionen, 

Kronofogden, 

Lotteriinspektionen, 

Polisen, ÅM, TV, SKV) 

2010 
Institutional 

report 
Swedish 

NA 

Ekobrottsmyndighetens 

underrättelsebild 2012 - 

extern version 

Ekobrottsmyndigheten 2012 
Institutional 

report 
Swedish 

NA 
Organiserad brottslighet 

på växlingskontoren 
Sr Nyheter P4 Malmö 2013 Media Swedish 

Johanna 

Skinnari, Klas 

Marklund, Lars 

Korsell 

Storskaliga skattebrott Brå 2011 
Academic 

study 
Swedish 

NA Rubicon 2011 Ekobrottsmyndigheten 2011 LEA report Swedish 

NA 
Tjänar miljoner på 

bedrägerier 
Sydsvenskan 2012 Media Swedish 

NA 

Hot bakom 

miljonbedrägerier i 

Malmö 

Dagens Nyheter 2012 Media Swedish 

NA 
"Största bedrägeriet med 

fakturor någonsin" 
SVT Rapport 2013 Media Swedish 

NA 
Man häktad för bedrägeri 

mot företag 
Dagens Nyheter 2012 Media Swedish 

NA 
Rot-bedragarnas nota: 76 

m iljoner 
Dagens Nyheter 2011 Media Swedish 

NA 
AIK kan vara inblandat i 

penningtvätt 
Aftonbladet 2013 Media Swedish 

NA 

Penningtvätt inom den 

grova organiserade 

brottsligheten 

RKP/FIPO 2010 
Institutional 

report 
Swedish 

NA 

Slutrapport uthyrning av 

arbetskraft - 

"Svartjobbsgranskningen" 

2006-2008 

Skatteverket 2009 
Institutional 

report 
Swedish 

NA 
Växlingskontor tros vara 

pengatvätt 
Dagens Industri 2007 Media Swedish 

NA 

Kraschen blottar ett nät 

av ljusskygga 

transaktioner 

Transportarbetaren 2012 Media Swedish 

NA 

Slutrapport för RPE 

Servicefunktioner, ett 

kontroll- och 

kartläggningsprojekt 

Skatteverket 2008 
Institutional 

report 
Swedish 

NA 
Slutrapport Riksprojektet 

MTIC/Karusellhandel 
Skatteverket 2008 

Institutional 

report 
Swedish 

NA 
Finanspolisens 

årsrapport 2012 
RKP/FIPO 2012 LEA report Swedish 

NA 
Finanspolisens 

årsrapport 2011 
RKP/FIPO 2011 LEA report Swedish 
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NA 

Undersökning med fokus 

på utpressning relaterad 

till organiserad 

brottslighet. RKP Rapport 

2007:1 

RKP/KE 2007 LEA report Swedish 

NA 
Lägesbild organiserad 

brottslighet 2011 
Tullverket 2011 LEA report Swedish 

NA Lönegaranti för vem? Skatteverket 2010 
Institutional 

report 
Swedish 

NA 

Kriminella nätverk 

föredrar Sverige för att 

tvätta pengar 

Dagens Nyheter 2006 Media Swedish 

Svante Cornell, 

Michael Jonsson, 

Emin Poljarevic, 

Trifin J. Roule, 

Niklas 

Swanström 

Penningtvätt och 

finansiell brottslighet i 

Östersjöområdet 

Central Asia- Caucasus 

Institute Silk Road 

Program 

2006 
Academic 

study 
Swedish 

NA 
Penningtvätt och 

finansiering av terrorism 
Finansinspektionen 2013 

Institutional 

report 
Swedish 

NA 
Staden, familjen och 

makten 
Fokus 2012 Media Swedish 

NA 60 miljarder är borta Sundsvalls tidning 2013 Media Swedish 

NA Högt pris för bluffakturor SvD Näringsliv 2012 Media Swedish 

NA 
Fakturabedrägeri är grov 

organiserad brottslighet 
Dagens handel 2012 Media Swedish 

NA Brott hämmar tillväxten Sydsvenskan 2010 Other Swedish 

NA 
"Han hotade med 

inkasso" 
SvD Näringsliv 2012 Media Swedish 

NA 
Fyra av tio företagare 

utsatta för brott 
Företagarna 2010 Other Swedish 

NA 
AIKs miljonfakturor 

granskas 
Dagens Nyheter 2013 Media Swedish 

NA AIK riskerar miljonsmäll Dagens Nyheter 2013 Media Swedish 

NA 
AIK stäms på en halv 

miljon av Panaxia 
Expressen 2013 Media Swedish 

NA 
30 miljoner borta i 

växlingshärvan 
Dagens Nyheter 2009 Media Swedish 

NA 

Ekobrottsmyndighetens 

lägesbild 2013 extern 

version 

Ekobrottsmyndigheten 2013 LEA report Swedish 

NA 

Factoring - rapport om en 

servicefunktion - öppen 

version 

Ekobrottsmyndigheten 2013 LEA report Swedish 

NA 
Osund konkurrens i 

offentlig upphandlnig 
Konkurrensverket 2013 

Institutional 

report 
Swedish 

NA 
Penningtvätt - en 

nationell riskbedömning 

Finansinspektionen (in 

cooperation with other 

agencies) 

2012 LEA report Swedish 

NA 

Polisens lägesbild av den 

organiserade 

brottsligheten 

Rikskriminalpolisen 2012 LEA report Swedish 

Anna Carlström, 

Henrik Lantz 

Hedström, Anita 

Heber 

Organiserat svartarbete i 

byggbranschen 
Brå 2007 

Academic 

study 
Swedish 

Johanna 

Skinnari, Daniel 

Vesterhav, Lars 

Korsell 

Organiserad brottslighet i 

Sverige 
Liber 2009 

Academic 

study 
Swedish 

Johanna 

Skinnari, Daniel 

Vesterhav och 

Lars Korsell 

Vart tog alla pengarna 

vägen? 
Brå 2007 

Academic 

study 
Swedish 



 

40 

Daniel Vesterhav, 

Lars Korsell, 

Anders 

Stenström och 

Johanna Skinnari 

Penningtvätt - 

rapportering om 

misstänkta transaktioner 

Brå 2011 
Academic 

study 
Swedish 

Bill Sund, Göran 

Ahrne, Fredrik 

Augustsson, 

Anita Heber, 

Linda Källman, 

Lars Korsell, 

Sofia Elw, Karolin 

Wallström, 

Johanna Skinnari 

Häleri - den organiserade 

brottslighetens möte med 

den legala marknaden 

Brå 2006 
Academic 

study 
Swedish 

Daniel Vesterhav, 

Malin Forman, 

Lars Korsell 

Summary: Crimnal assets 

recovery 
Brå 2008 

Academic 

study 
Swedish 

Walter Kegö, 

Alexandru 

Molcean 

Russian Speaking 

Organized Crime Groups 

in the EU 

Institute for Security and 

Development Policy 
2010 

Academic 

study 
English 

Gordana 

Stojiljković 
Zapor za vse obdolžence Dnevnik 2001 Media Slovenian 

 

Chapter 7 draws on the information collected in the Database on Criminal Infiltration (DCI). Therefore, no specific 

methodology is provided for this chapter. Table A14 lists the data sources. 

Table A14. List of open sources included in the DCI 

Author Title of the study/article 
Institution/publisher/new

spaper 
Year 

Type of 

document 
Language 

An Garda 

Síochána 
Annual Report An Garda Síochána 2010 LEA Report English 

Andrew Boff 

Shadow city: exposing 

human trafficking in 

everyday London 

Gla Conservatives 2013 
Institutional 

report 
English 

Andrew Gregory 

Crooks behind Britain's 

biggest tax fraud land 10 

years 

Mirror News 2010 Media English 

Andrew Gregory 

Operation Pangea VI: 

Counterfeit medicine 

worth £12million seized 

in UK in week-long 

crackdown 

Mirror News 2013 Media English 

Andy Walker 

Court orders seizure of 

£102,000 proceeds of 

crime 

The Northern Echo 2010 Media English 

Anita Lavorgna, 

Robert Lombardo 

and Anna Sergi 

Organized crime in three 

regions: comparing the 

Veneto, Liverpool, and 

Chicago 

Trends in Organized 

Crime (Vol. 16) 
2013 

Academic 

study 
English 

Annison Rachel In the dock Anti-salvery international 2013 
Institutional 

report 
English 

Asian Image 

reporter 

Counterfeit crime family 

is jailed 
Asian image 2013 Media English 

BBC news 

Crime cash raid at 

Glasgow's Seventh 

Heaven lap dance club 

BBC News 2012 Media English 

BBC news 

Edinburgh Lawyer 

Richard Housley jailed for 

money laundering 

BBC News 2013 Media English 
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BBC news 

Derby organised crime 

gangs highlighted by 

report 

BBC News 2014 Media English 

BBC news 

Northampton nightclub 

was used 'to launder 

drugs money' 

BBC News 2014 Media English 

BBC News 

Birmingham & 

Black Country 

Birmingham fake money: 

Four jailed for £1.3m 

counterfeit scam 

BBC News Birmingham & 

Black Country 
2014 Media English 

BBC News NE 

Scotland, Orkney 

and Shetland 

Fishermen told to pay 

£1.2m for black fish 

landings 

BBC News NE Scotland, 

Orkney and Shetland 
2012 Media English 

BBC News 

Scotland 

Proceeds of crime: £80m 

seized from Scottish 

criminals 

BBC News Scotland 2013 Media English 

BBC News 

Scotland 

Launderette owner jailed 

over money laundering 

scam 

BBC News 2012 Media English 

BBC News 

Sheffield and 

South Yorkshire 

Sheffield 'crash-for-cash' 

ringleaders jailed 

BBC News Sheffield and 

South Yorkshire 
2014 media English 

Carl Fellstrom 
West Ham owner's £1m 

loan to crime boss 
The Independent 2014 Media English 

Chris Elliott 

Elliott review into the 

integrity and assurance 

of food supply networks: 

interim report 

DEFRA 2013 
Institutional 

report 
English 

Chris Osuh, Dean 

Kirby, Pete 

Bainbridge 

Jail for shopkeeper who 

masterminded 

immigration scam 

Manchester evening 

news 
2013 Media English 

Chris Summers 

Raids lift the lid on 

bureau de change for 

criminals 

BBC News 2011 Media English 

Christopher Mills 

Waste system open to 

organised crime - report 

into Derry dumping 

Northern Ireland 

Environment Agency 
2013 

Institutional 

report 
English 

Chronicle Live 

County Durham dad 

charged after police 

warning 

Chronicle Live 2010 media English 

CIFAS 

Staff Fraudscape: 

Depicting the UK's fraud 

landscape 

CIFAS 2013 
Institutional 

report 
English 

Colin Donald 
Police chief warns of 

organised crime risks 
Sunday Herald 2009 media English 

CPA 

Relazione sul fenomeno 

delle infiltrazioni mafiose 

nel gioco lecito e illecito 

Commissione 

parlamentare di inchiesta 

sul fenomeno della mafia 

e sulle altre associazioni 

criminali, anche straniere 

2011 
Institutional 

report 
Italian 

Crown Office and 

Procurator Fiscal 

Service 

Two Edinburgh brothel-

keepers sentenced to 

five years imprisonment 

Crown Office and 

Procurator Fiscal Service 
2013 

Institutional 

report 
English 

Crown 

Prosecution 

Service 

Industrial' money 

launderers sentenced 

Crown Prosecution 

Service 
2012 

Institutional 

report 
English 

Dailyrecord.co.uk 

Exclusive: The incredible 

story of the mafia gang 

who set up shop in 

Scotland 

Daily record 2008 Media English 

Dan Bean 

Cannabis farmer Richard 

Oldroyd must hand over 

slice of his £120,000 

earnings from drugs 

trade 

York Press 2013 Media English 
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Daniel 

Silverstone 

From Triads to 

snakeheads: organised 

crime and illegal 

migration within Britain’s 

Chinese community 

Global Crime (Vol. 12, No. 

2) 
2011 

Academic 

study 
English 

Daniel 

Silverstone & 

Stephen Savage 

Farmers, factories and 

funds: organised crime 

and illicit drugs 

cultivation within the 

British Vietnamese 

community 

Global Crime (Vol. 11, No. 

1) 
2010 

Academic 

study 
English 

David Leask 
Criminal gangs linked to 

300 Glasgow firms 
Evening Times (Glasgow) 2010 Media English 

David Leask 
Criminals in the shadows 

of the business world 
Herald scotland 2014 Media English 

David Taylor 

Businessmen have 

£922k assets 

confiscated after losing 

longest dirty money case 

in Scottish legal history 

Daily Record 2012 Media English 

Derek Alexander 

Scotland's most wanted 

fraudster Michael 

Voudouri arrested at 

luxury Cyprus hideaway 

after 14 months on the 

run 

Daily Record 2013 media English 

DIA 
Relazione 2006, 2° 

semestre 

Direzione Investigativa 

Antimafia 
2006 LEA report Italian 

DNA Relazione 2006-2007 
Direzione Nazionale 

Antimafia 
2007 

Institution 

report 
Italian 

Duncan Gardham 

£200m Parisi mafia gang 

'ran betting operation 

from London' 

The Telegraph 2009 Media English 

Durham Police Police report Durham police NA 
Judicial 

evidence 
English 

Euan Grant 

The Russian Mafia and 

organised crime: how can 

this global force be 

tamed? 

Open Democracy 2012 Media English 

Evening Gazette 
Tees drugs gang is jailed 

for over 100 years 
Evening gazette 2011 Media English 

Evening Times 

(Glasgow) 

Criminals targeted in 

fresh taxi crackdown 
Evening Times (Glasgow) 2012 Media English 

FATF 
Vulnerabilities of Casinos 

and Gaming Sector 
FATF 2009 

Institutional 

report 
English 

FATF 

Money laundering 

through the football 

sector 

FATF 2009 
Institutional 

report 
English 

Forgione 

Mafia export. Come 

'Ndrangheta, Cosa Nostra 

e Camorra hanno 

colonizzato il mondo 

Baldini Castoldi Dalai 2009 
Academic 

study 
Italian 

Gambling 

Commission 
Protecting Better Integrity Gambling Commission 2013 

Institutional 

report 
English 

Gareth Rose 
Landfill sites launder 

cash for crime gangs 
Scotland on Sunday 2011 Media English 

Gavin 

Engelbrecht 

Untouchable gangster 

from Shotton Colliery 

jailed for cocaine dealing 

The Northern Echo 2013 Media English 

Gavin Hales and 

Richard Hobbs 

Drug markets in the 

community: a London 

borough case study 

Trends in Organized 

Crime (Vol. 13) 
2010 

Academic 

study 
English 
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Helen Lawson 

Gang made £16,000 of 

fake £1 and £2 metal 

coins in just one month 

by painting lead with 

silver and gold paint 

Mail Online 2013 media English 

Herald scotland 

Police to target 

specialists who launder 

crime cash 

Herald scotland 2009 Media English 

HM Government 
Serious and Organised 

Crime Strategy 
HM Government 2013 

Institutional 

report 
English 

HMRC 
£14 million payback for 

playboy VAT fraudster 
HMRC press release 2013 media English 

HMRC 
£2.4 million payback for 

high life fraudster 
HMRC press release 2013 media English 

HMRC 

Multi-million pound 

carbon credit VAT 

fraudster to pay back 

£13 million 

HMRC press release 2013 media English 

HMRC 
Accountant jailed for 

£358,000 fraud 
HMRC press release 2013 media English 

HMRC 
Film producer jailed for 

£1.5m VAT fraud 
HMRC press release 2013 LEA Report English 

Home Office 

Local to Global: Reducing 

the Risk from Organised 

Crime 

Home Office 2011 
Institutional 

report 
English 

James Windle 

Tuckers firm: a case 

study of British organised 

crime 

Trends in Organized 

Crime (Vol. 16) 
2013 

Academic 

study 
English 

Johanna 

Skinnari, Anders 

Stenström, Lars 

Korsell 

Otillåten påverkan mot 

företag 
Brå 2012 

Academic 

study 
Swedish 

John Robertson 

Judge orders GBP1m of 

assets to be seized back 

from criminal pair 

The Scotsman 2012 Media English 

John Siddle 
Fitzgibbons jailed over 

£7m heroin drug deal 
Liverpool Echo 2013 media English 

Jonathan 

Caulkins, Honora 

Burnett and 

Edward Leslie 

How illegal drugs enter 

an island country: 

insights from interviews 

with incarcerated 

smugglers 

Global Crime (Vol. 10, 

Nos. 1-2) 
2009 

Academic 

study 
English 

Julian Makey 

Wife jailed after 

laundering thousands of 

pounds for rogue trader 

husband 

Cambridge News 2013 Media English 

Klaus von Lampe 

The cigarette black 

market in Germany and 

in the United Kingdom 

Journal of Financial 

Crime (Vol. 13, No. 2) 
2006 

Academic 

study 
English 

Liz Keen 
Sports fan turned £8m 

money launderer is jailed 
Wales Online 2013 Media English 

Louis Emanuel 
Bristol drug dealer Rico 

Walker jailed for 16 years 
The Bristol Post 2013 Media English 

Lucy Adams 
Criminals can no longer 

operate with impunity 
The Herald (Glasgow) 2009 Media English 

Manchester 

Evening News 

It's payback time for 

criminal family 

Manchester Evening 

News 
2011 Media English 

Mark 

Hollingsworth 

Israel Perry case tests 

NCA's powers to freeze 

assets 

The Independent 2013 Media English 

Michael Levi 
Organized Crime and 

Terrorism 

The Oxford Handbook of 

Criminology (4th ed.) 
2007 

Academic 

study 
English 
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Michael Levi and 

Mike Maguire 

Reducing and preventing 

organised crime: 

An evidence-based 

critique 

Crime, Law & Social 

Change (Vol. 41) 
2004 

Academic 

study 
English 

Michael 

Macaulay 

Corruption in the UK Part 

Two: Assessment of Key 

Sectors 

Transparency 

International UK 
2011 

Institutional 

report 
English 

Nick McCarthy 

Businesses being 

blackmailed by hackers 

targeting company 

databases; Firms paying 

ransom demands to 

cyber criminals who 

infiltrate IT security 

systems and block 

access to information 

Birmingham Post 2013 Media English 

Nick McCarthy, 

Daniel Ivery 

Blues chief Carson 

Yeung: I DID accept a 

further £3m from 

suspected Triad boss 

Birmingham Mail 2013 Media English 

North Wales Daily 

Post 

Gangster ordered to 

surrender his ill-gotten 

millions 

North Wales Daily Post 2007 Media English 

Organised Crime 

Task Force 

Organised crime in 

Northern Ireland. Annual 

Report and Risk 

Assessment 

Organised Crime Task 

Force 
2013 

Institutional 

report 
English 

Paolo Campana 

Eavesdropping on the 

mob: the functional 

diversification of Mafia 

activities across 

territories 

European Journal of 

Criminology (Vol. 8, No. 3) 
2011 

Academic 

study 
Italian 

Paul Hooper 

Mastermind of £300k 

Canterbury money-

laundering gang jailed 

Kent Online 2013 Media English 

Raimond 

Buchanan 

Call centres infiltrated by 

gangs 
BBC News 2006 Media English 

Rebecca Gray 
Fake gifts are a bad 

bargain 
Evening Times (Glasgow) 2012 Media English 

Richard Edwards 

The hidden underworld of 

crime: 10 fascinating 

gangster facts 

The Telegraph 2009 Media English 

Richard Edwards 

Rich List businessman 

Virendra Rastogi jailed 

for £350m fraud 

The Telegraph 2008 Media English 

Russel Findlay 

Scots drug baron Willie 

O'Neil could face up to 

five years in prison for 

£1.5million money 

laundering racket 

Daily record and Sunday 

mail 
2013 Media English 

Russel Findlay 

Gangland fraudster 

accused of laundered 

£48.3m is heading back 

to jail 

Daily Record 2012 media English 

Sean O'Neill 

Philip Baron, deckchair 

king with lavish lifestyle, 

admits to being drug 

kingpin 

The Times 2013 Media English 

Serious Fraud 

Office 

Achilleas Kallakis and 

Alexander Williams guilty 

of defrauding banks in 

property financing deals 

Serious Fraud Office 

Press Release 
2013 media English 
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SOCA 

Annex A, p. 8, Model for 

the criminal exploitation 

of the third party 

settlement process 

through MSBs 

UK Serious Organised 

Crime Agency 
2011 

Institutional 

report 
English 

Suzanne Evans 
Brothel madam ordered 

to pay back £2.6m 
Wales online 2009 Media English 

The Guardian 
Five who smuggled £80m 

of cannabis into UK jailed 
The Guardian 2013 Media English 

The Independent 
Police smash £12m 

computer fraud gang 
The Independent 2010 Media English 

The Independent 

Busted: The fall of 

Britain's most ruthless 

gangster 

The Independent 2007 media English 

The Northern Eco 

Former police officer at 

centre of multi-million 

cigarette smuggling scam 

must repay just £1 

The Northern Echo 2013 Media English 

The Scotsman 
15 cab firms controlled 

by organised crime 
The Scotsman 2009 media English 

The Telegraph 
Colombian drugs cartel 

smashed 
The Telegraph 2002 Media English 

Tom Harper 

The other hacking 

scandal: Suppressed 

report reveals that law 

firms, telecoms giants 

and insurance 

companies routinely hire 

criminals to steal rivals' 

information 

The Independent 2013 Media English 

Tony Thompson 
Heroin 'emperor' brings 

terror to UK streets 
The Obsever 2002 Media English 

Transcrime 

Gli investimenti delle 

mafie (Mafia 

investments) 

Transcrime 2013 
Academic 

study;  
Italian 

Saviano 

Gomorra: viaggio 

nell’impero economico e 

nel sogno di dominio 

della camorra 

Mondadori 2006 Media Italian 

UK border agency UK border agency news UK Border Agency 2012 
Institutional 

report 
English 

van der Leest, 

W., & 

Moerenhout, L. 

Nieuwe vormen van 

georganiseerde 

criminaliteit, in het 

bijzonder afpersing en 

medicijnvervalsing 

Korps Landelijke Politie 

Diensten (KLPD) - Dienst 

IPOL 

2012 LEA report Dutch 

van der Wagen, 

W. 

De Russische 

georganiseerde misdaad. 

Wat er nog van over is.. 

En wat ons nog te 

wachten staat.. 

Korps Landelijke Politie 

Diensten (KLPD) - Dienst 

IPOL 

2011 LEA report Dutch 

van Koppen, V. 
Involvement mechanisms 

for organized crime 

Crime, Law and Social 

change, 59(1), 1-20 
2013 

Academic 

study 
English 

Vincenzo 

Ruggiero, Kazim 

Khan 

British South Asian 

communities and drug 

supply 

networks in the UK: A 

qualitative study 

International Journal of 

Drug Policy 17 (2006) 

473–483 

2006 
Academic 

study 
English 

Watford observer 

Watford man in 'highly 

organised' cocaine plot, 

Daniel Lloyd, is jailed 

Watford observer 2013 Media English 

Webb S. And 

Borrows J. 

Organised immigration 

crime: a post-conviction 

study, 

Home Office 2009 
Institutional 

report 
English 
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West Briton 

Crime boss fails to get 

£2.2m order reduced;  

'Repugnant' to cut 

penalty total, say Appeal 

Court judges 

West Briton 2013 Media English 

WODC 
Organised Crime Monitor 

(Fourth sweep) 

Wetenschappelijk 

Onderzoeks- en 

Documentatiecentrum 

2012 
Institutional 

report 
Dutch 

WODC 
Organised Crime Monitor 

(Fourth sweep) 

Wetenschappelijk 

Onderzoeks- en 

Documentatiecentrum 

2012 
Institutional 

report 
Dutch 

Xavier Duncan 

L’Hoiry 

“Shifting the stuff wasn’t 

any bother”: Illicit 

enterprise, 

tobacco bootlegging and 

deconstructing the British 

government’s cigarette 

smuggling discourse 

Trends in Organized 

Crime (Vol. 16) 
2013 

Academic 

study 
English 

Yorkshire 

Evening Post 

£100k cash seized in 

raids 
Yorkshire Evening Post 2011 Media English 
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Database on case studies on OCG infiltration 

The second part of the report focuses on case studies on organised crime infiltration in legal businesses in Italy, the 

Netherlands, Slovenia, Sweden, and the United Kingdom. A case study on OCG infiltration refers to the event of an 

organised crime group infiltrating the legitimate economy to participate in the decision-making process of one or more 

legal businesses. Each case study on OCG infiltration may include more than one infiltrated business when a criminal 

group infiltrates several legal companies. 

Several case studies were identified and selected in the five EU MS. Each research partner identified case studies in its 

own country through a review of the scientific literature, reports by national authorities and institutions, and newspaper 

articles referring to criminal infiltration in legal businesses. Relevant institutions (e.g. LEAs and national authorities 

involved in the fight against organised and economic crime) were contacted to gain access to court and judicial archives. 

A first, provisional list of case studies was compiled. Each research partner verified the type of documents available (e.g. 

judicial documents, documents on seizure and confiscation measures), the format of the documents (i.e. paper or 

electronic format), and the conditions and costs for accessing the documents. 

According to data availability, 8 to 21 case studies were selected in each country, for a total of 70 case studies and 299 

infiltrated businesses.The selection was based on the following criteria. 

Representativeness of case studies: the case studies encompassed different types of infiltration (e.g. acquisition of the 

ownership of an already existing business, start-up of a new legitimate business). 

Completeness of information: case studies with information available on the entire process of infiltration were favoured, 

as well as those with information on the names or VAT identification numbers of infiltrated businesses (or the name of 

owners/shareholders) to retrieve the financial statements and conduct the financial and accounting analysis. 

Temporal proximity of the events: more recent case studies were favoured. 

Diversification in terms of characteristics, areas and sectors: case studies encompassed different types and methods of 

infiltration in different territories and economic sectors. 

The information on the 70 case studies was recorded in the Database on Case Studies (DCS). This stores details on the 

299 infiltrated businesses, e.g. the registered address, the criminal organisation involved, the process of infiltration, the 

owners and shareholders, and the availability of financial and accounting documents. Table A15 lists the variables 

included in the DCS. 

Table A15. List of variables included in the Database on Case Studies (DCS) 

Variable Description Categories and examples 

Episode ID   

Case ID   

Country ID  e.g. UK 

Access to judicial/other documents  
a. Yes 

b. No 

Investigation/operation 
Name of the law enforcement 

operation/investigation 
 

District court   

Duration 
Months/years of duration of the 

operation/investigation 
e.g. apr 2006-june 2007 

Beginning of the investigation  e.g. apr. 2006 

End of the investigation  e.g. june 2007 

No. of infiltrated companies 

Number of companies infiltrated by 

the OCG (if more than one company 

was found to be infiltrated by an OCG) 
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Company name Name of the infiltrated company  

Identification number 
Identification number of the infiltrated 

company 
 

VAT number 
VAT number of the infiltrated 

company 
 

Business size Size of the infiltrated company 

a. Small 

b. Medium 

c. Large 

d. Very large 

Were the companies seized?  
a. Yes 

b. No 

Date of seizure   

Were the companies confiscated?  
a. Yes 

b. No 

Date of confiscation   

Name of the owner(s)/shareholder(s)   

Date of birth of the 

owner(s)/shareholder(s) 
  

Gender of the 

owner(s)/shareholder(s) 
  

Criminal affiliation of the 

owner(s)/shareholder(s) 

If available, name of the family/clan 

of the owner(s)/shareholder(s). 

Otherwise, name of the criminal 

organisation 

e.g. Cosca Aquino; Hells Angels 

Change of the 

owner(s)/shareholder(s) 

Were owner(s)/shareholder(s) 

changed during the period of 

infiltration? 

a. Yes 

b. No 

OCG members as shareholders  
a. Yes 

b. No 

Relatives as shareholders 
OCG members’ relatives as 

shareholders 

a. Yes 

b. No 

Professionals as shareholders 
Professionals (e.g. lawyer, 

accountant) as shareholders 

a. Yes 

b. No 

Legal entrepreneurs as shareholders  
a. Yes 

b. No 

Legal companies as shareholders Corporate shareholders 
a. Yes 

b. No 

Name of director(s)   

Date of birth of director(s)   

Gender of director(s)   

Criminal affiliation director(s) 

If available, name of the family/clan 

of the director(s). Otherwise, name of 

the criminal organisation 

 

Change of director(s) 
Were director(s) changed during the 

period of infiltration? 

a. Yes 

b. No 

Business sector (original wording) 

The business sector of the infiltrated 

company, as described in the 

document 

e.g. Restaurant 

NACE 0-digit label 

The business sector of the infiltrated 

company, as identified in the NACE 

classification 

e.g. Accommodation and food service 

activities 

NACE 1-digit label 

The business sector of the infiltrated 

company, as identified in the NACE 

classification 

e.g. Food and beverage service 

activities 

NACE 2-digit label 

The business sector of the infiltrated 

company, as identified in the NACE 

classification 

e.g. Restaurants and mobile food 

service activities 

Registered address 

Registered address of the infiltrated 

company (address, city, province, 

region) 

 

NUTS 2 level  

The region/territory of the registered 

address of the infiltrated company, as 

identified in the NUTS classification 

e.g. Lombardia 
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NUTS 3 level 

The province/territory of the 

registered address of the infiltrated 

company, as identified in the NUTS 

classification 

e.g. Milano 

Same address for many businesses 
Were various businesses registered at 

the same address? 

a. Yes 

b. No 

Change of registered address 
Was the registered address changed 

during the period of infiltration? 

a. Yes 

b. No 

Date of incorporation 
Date of incorporation of the infiltrated 

company 
 

Period of infiltration 

Approximate period of infiltration 

(both start and end of the infiltration 

process) 

e.g. june 2008-dec. 2010 

Results Driver(s) of the infiltration 
e.g. Fraud; Concealment of illegal 

activities 

Type of infiltration  
a. Already existing business 

b. New business 

Cast 
Categories of people involved in the 

infiltration process 

e.g. OCG members; relatives; straw 

men 

Actor conducting the infiltration  

a. OCG member 

b. Straw man 

c. Legal person controlled by OC 

Involvement of legal entrepreneurs 

Involvement of legal entrepreneurs as 

co-offenders in the infiltration 

process? 

a. Yes 

b. No 

Involvement of professionals 

Involvement of professionals (e.g. 

lawyers, notaries, accountants) as co-

offenders in the infiltration process? 

a. Yes 

b. No 

Involvement of public officials 
Involvement of public officials as co-

offenders in the infiltration process? 

a. Yes 

b. No 

Involvement of politicians 
Involvement of politicians as co-

offenders in the infiltration process? 

a. Yes 

b. No 

Legal form 
Type of legitimate business infiltrated 

by OC 
e.g. Limited liability company 

Use of off-shore and/or anonymous 

bank accounts 
 

a. Yes 

b. No 

Use of shell companies and frontmen  
a. Yes 

b. No 

Pyramidal structure  
a. Yes 

b. No 

Accounting manipulation  
a. Yes 

b. No 

False invoicing and fake 

documentation 
 

a. Yes 

b. No 

Bankruptcy 
Information on whether infiltration 

ended up with bankruptcy 

a. Yes 

b. No 

Type of OCG 

The OCG involved in the infiltration 

process, as described in the 

document 

 

Source  
Source of the information on the case 

of OCG infiltration 
 

Date  

Year of publication (for academic 

studies and reports) or date of 

publication (dd/mm/yyyy) (for media 

sources, e.g. newspaper articles) 

 

Type of document   

a. Academic study 

b. Institution report 

c. LEA report 

d. Judicial evidence 

f. Media 

g. Other 

Link  

Link to the website where the 

document can be accessed or 

downloaded 
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Page 
Pages of the document which 

describe the case of OC infiltration 
 

Source: Transcrime elaboration 

Judicial documents (e.g. arrest warrants, judgements, documents on seizure and confiscation measures) constituted the 

primary source of information. Information from judicial documents were integrated with secondary sources of 

information, such as interviews with state prosecutors and police officers, reports by national authorities, newspaper 

articles, and financial and accounting documents retrieved from business registers. Table A16 describes the types of 

sources used. 

Table A16. Types of sources by case study 

Case ID Judicial documents LEA reports Media Other6 

IT01     

IT02     

IT03     

IT04     

IT05     

IT06     

IT07     

IT08     

IT09     

IT10     

IT11     

IT12     

IT13     

IT14     

IT15     

IT16     

IT17     

IT18     

IT19     

IT20     

IT21     

NL01     

NL02     

NL03     

NL04     

NL05     

NL06     

NL07     

NL08     

NL09     

NL10     

NL11     

SI01     

SI02     

SI03     

SI04     

SI05     

SI06     

SI07     

SI08     

SE01     

SE02     

SE03     

SE04     

SE05     

SE06     

SE07     

SE08     

                                                
6 E.g. interviews with police officers and state prosecutors. 
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SE09     

SE10     

SE11     

SE12     

SE13     

SE14     

SE15     

SE16     

SE17     

SE18     

SE19     

SE20     

UK01     

UK02     

UK03     

UK04     

UK05     

UK06     

UK07     

UK08     

UK09     

UK10     
Source: Transcrime elaboration on DCS data 

Italian case studies 

The review of the academic literature, institutional and LEA reports, and newspaper articles, as well as contacts with 

relevant institutions (e.g. state prosecutors involved in the fight against organised crime), enabled identification of 347 

case studies on OCG infiltration in legal businesses in Italy. 

Each case study corresponded to a judicial investigation and/or police operation on OCGs infiltrating legal businesses. 

Notably, one case study may have involved more than one business, e.g. in the case of a police operation tackling the 

infiltration of different companies by the same OCG. In order to be identified, the case studies had to include information 

on the name and/or VAT number of the infiltrated business. 

The selection of the case studies was designed so that they could encompass the infiltration of legitimate businesses by 

different OCGs in different territories and business sectors. First, case studies were grouped by business sector, type of 

territory (i.e. region with traditional mafia presence and other regions), and OCG. Second, one case study for each 

combination was identified, favouring most recent ones. 

Finally, access to the judicial documents related to the selected case studies was requested from the competent 

authorities. 16 out of 45 state prosecutors and judges were able to provide access to relevant documentation. In other 

cases, the judicial documents were publicly available (e.g. uploaded on anti-mafia blogs or websites). However, 

information on some case studies involving, e.g., Russian organised criminals could not be obtained. The final sample 

comprised 21 case studies and 164 infiltrated businesses. 

Dutch case studies 

In the Netherlands, there are two major data sources on organised crime at a national level (aside from other data 

sources and methods like interviewing offenders or observations). The first data sources is represented by police data: 

namely, files on criminal cases in which organised crime groups are the main object of investigation; and/or police files 

and registration of individual offenders with their personal information and criminal records. 

The second data source is represented by the FIOD files, in which criminal cases on financial crimes are the object of 

investigation. The FIOD is a criminal investigation organisation which is part of the Dutch Tax and Customs 

Administration of the Ministry of Finance. The FIOD files do not necessarily contain data on organised crime groups; they 

also include data on criminal cases in which a single individual or a company is the object of investigation. The focus of 

the FIOD is on financial crimes where the state is one of the victims (mostly fraud and tax evasion). If the police are 

suspicious that a financial crime has been committed by an organised crime group (suspected of other crimes), the FIOD 

will be informed and its experts join the detective team.  

Dutch criminological research relies heavily on police data. Systematic research carried out by the Ministry of Security 
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and Justice in the last twenty years has used data of this type to analyse the situation of organised crime in the 

Netherlands (so-called ‘Organised Crime Monitor’ reports). The reports reflect a 20-year longitudinal line of research 

initiated in 1995, when a Parliamentary Inquiry Committee on Criminal Investigation Methods carried out the first 

empirical criminological study on the nature of organised crime in the country (Fijnaut, Bovenkerk, Bruinsma, & van de 

Bunt, 1998). The reports of the Organised Crime Monitor also use FIOD data, but only in cases where police 

investigations have uncovered financial crimes committed by organised crime groups (mostly active in the drug trade 

and other illegal activities). The use of police data for this project would lead to replication of conclusions such as the 

ones reached by the Organised Crime Monitor. After two decades of research on organised crime, the authors conclude 

that ‘rather than controlling certain regions or certain sectors of the economy, criminal groups use the legal 

infrastructure and legal commodity and money flows’ [emphasis added] (Kruisbergen, Kleemans, & van de Bunt, 2012, 

p. 289). 

In light of the above-mentioned considerations, it was decided not to use police data on organised crime again. Instead, 

the FIOD files were selected as the main data source because they suited the purpose of the ARIEL project (i.e. financial 

infiltration). The FIOD collaborated on the study by granting the request to use its data (with a formal confirmation from 

the national Public Prosecutor’s Office). In its system, GEFIS, the FIOD has more than 10,000 criminal cases covering 

the time period between 1996 and 2013. In order to reduce the number of cases, three criteria were used. First, the 

time period of consideration was reduced to the last five years. Second, only criminal cases involving at least one 

natural person and one company were selected. The purpose of this selection was to exclude all individual cases of tax 

evasion. Third, only criminal cases in which the person accused was suspected of participating in a criminal organisation 

(Art. 140 of the Criminal Code) were considered.7 

The use of the above-mentioned criteria reduced the number of cases from 10,751 to 37. Table A17 summarises the 

37 case studies, listing them by type of financial crime committed by the members of the criminal group. Out of the 37 

case studies identified, 11 were selected for further analysis. 

Table A17. Number of FIOD cases by type of financial crime 

Type of financial crime Number of cases 

Tax evasion 10 

Carousel fraud 8 

Profit laundering 5 

Property crime 2 

WTE/WMZ/WTB 2 

Bankruptcy fraud 2 

WTK 2 

RHV 2 

Rogue companies 1 

Stripping/SFO 1 

Drugs 1 

Health care fraud 1 
Source: NSCR elaboration 

Slovenian case studies 

The identification of case studies on OCG infiltration in, or connection with, legitimate businesses was carried out using 

two different strategies. 

First, a comprehensive literature review was conducted using the COBISS.SI (Co-operative Online Bibliographic Systems 

and Services) electronic library,8 Academic Search Premier databases, and searching the online archives of three 

Slovenian newspapers, namely, Delo, Dnevnik and Večer.9 These were selected because they are publicly perceived as 

the most credible newspapers in Slovenia. Newspapers were also monitored daily for the most current cases of interest. 

Moreover, if the need arose for additional information on specific case studies, a search was conducted also on other 

Slovenian media portals. The period covered was from 2002 onwards. 

                                                
7 Art. 140 gives a definition of organised crime different from the one commonly used by Dutch criminologists. It defines a criminal organisation as one which has 

the purpose of committing serious offences. Dutch criminologists use a more narrow definition, implying that crimes are systematically committed that damage 

society, and also that violence, the threat of violence or corruption are applied by the criminal group to avoid prosecution. 
8 ‘COBISS is a model of a system representing the platform for the national library information systems in Slovenia, Serbia, Macedonia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, 

Montenegro, Bulgaria and Albania. All these systems are interconnected into the COBISS.Net regional network‘ (“COBISS.Net,” 2012). COBISS.SI includes and 

searches the databases of Slovenian libraries only. 
9 The keywords used were Slovenian terms and derivations of ‘organised crime’, ‘money laundering’, ‘criminal organisation’, and ‘criminal group’. 
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Second, FCJS contacted four Slovenian institutions (i.e. Slovenian police, Office of the State Prosecutor General of the 

Republic of Slovenia, Tax Administration of the Republic of Slovenia, and Slovenian Office for Money Laundering 

Prevention) and verified whether they had information and/or cataloguing systems with which to facilitate the 

identification of case studies on OCG infiltration, which types of documents were available on those cases, and the 

possibility that the information and documents could be released to outside researchers. 

The literature review yielded interesting results. More than 2,500 documents including newspaper articles as well as 

academic papers, LEA reports, research reports and theses were reviewed.10 The documents provided information on 

several cases of organised crime group connections with legitimate businesses. AJPES (the Agency of the Republic of 

Slovenia for Public Legal Records and Related Services) was used to find official data on business entities and verify the 

existence of a criminal connection.11 A list of variables, including the name of the offenders, the name of the court, and 

the year of trail, was compiled from the suitable cases and sent to the Office of the State Prosecutor General of the 

Republic of Slovenia in order to verify the availability of prosecutor files corresponding to those cases.12   

With regard to the second data collection strategy, none of the information and/or cataloguing systems of the four 

Slovenian institutions contacted had variables that could be used to identify suitable cases. The only documents 

collected consisted of a few (although highly useful) analytical information reports by the Slovenian police on cases in 

which the name of a questionable legal entity appeared in several Slovenian settlements. All the other institutions 

stated that it was not possible for them to filter cases of OCG infiltration in legal businesses without a list of identifying 

items of information on those cases (Office of the State Prosecutor General of the Republic of Slovenia) or that the 

information included in their databases could not be released to outside researchers for confidentiality reasons (Tax 

Administration of the Republic of Slovenia and Slovenian Office for Money Laundering Prevention).13 Owing to these 

limitations, the police were asked to provide a list of all the cases relating to organised crime, economic crimes and/or 

money laundering. The list included several cataloguing markers;it was therefore forwarded to the Office of the State 

Prosecutor General of the Republic of Slovenia in order to identify prosecutor files corresponding to relevant cases.  

Permission to access and view prosecutor files was given only for finalised court cases, namely 56 cases. However, prior 

to granting actual access to the judicial documents, the Heads of the District Prosecutor Offices and Specialised 

Prosecutors Office had to check that court cases were actually finalised. They also had to evaluate the suitability of case 

studies and the possibility for researchers to have access to judicial documents. One of the District Prosecutors pointed 

out that one of the 56 court cases was not yet finalised. Information regarding the suitability and accessibility of other 

cases was received only when the arrangements for visiting prosecutor offices and analysing prosecutor files were being 

made. All the files were in fact reviewed and analysed at the premises and under the supervision of the Prosecutor 

Offices. From February to September 2014, seven District Prosecutor Offices were visited and 45 prosecutor files were 

analysed. It should be stressed, however, that this does mean that 45 separate case studies were identified. 

Occasionally, an OCG or one of its members was prosecuted for a specific crime in a separate trial, so that a separate 

prosecutor file was created.  

Prosecutor files include considerable amounts of data. Therefore, especial attention was paid to finding data on 

financial statements and tax information, as well as reports on undercover operations and witness hearings. The latter 

usually include information regarding the socio-economic status of the people involved (e.g. (un)employment status or 

involvement in the ownership of a business). The fact that a suspect owned a business was sometimes used as a 

defence mechanism (e.g. ‘why should they commit crime if they have a business?’) or a mitigating circumstance (e.g. 

‘they must manage the business because it is their source of livelihood and usually the family depends on them’). 

However, these statements cannot be considered as totally credible; consequently, they were regarded more as insights 

on attitudes, successfulness, and management of a business, than as actual evidence. It was noticed that prosecutors 

did not focus much on the economic behaviour of an OCG if the latter was involved in drug or human trafficking, 

                                                
10 This sample resulted from the elimination of redundant items and unsuitable documents (e.g. media reviews on organised crime movies and/or books). The 

initial sample consisted of 62,500 documents. 
11 Sometimes the sources used for the literature review (e.g. newspaper articles) used abbreviations of the names of legitimate businesses such as s.p. [private 

proprietorship], d.o.o. [private company limited by shares or Ltd], d.n.o [unlimited company]. This created some problems in finding information on AJPES. The lack 

of abbreviations, the different use of sibilants, or the fact that business entities were registered with a different variant of the first and/or last name substantially 

influenced the success rate of the search on AJPES. 
12 On the basis of experience from various research, especially on drugs (Kuhar & Dobovšek, 2014) and art crime (Kuhar, 2013) it was decided to use prosecutor 

files as the main source of information. They in fact represent the midpoint between police work and court outcomes. Though court files are less bound to secrecy 

(since trials are public, therefore the majority of data should be public as well), they still cannot include data used in pre-trial investigations or data that the 

prosecutor does not want to use in trial as evidence.  
13 However, the Tax Administration of the Republic of Slovenia still helped with identification of cases by assisting with the filtering out some of suspected cases 

found in the literature review. In some cases, a newspaper article described how an automobile had been dismantled in an auto mechanic workshop/garage 

owned by a member of a crime group involved in stealing cars and then selling their parts. However, it was not always clear if these workshops/garages were used 

for official and registered business or just for private (or perhaps informal economy) work. And since the AJPES search often revealed nothing, the Tax 

administration was asked if it could screen-test the ‘suspected’ cases and confirm that they indeed did not appear in their registers in regard to business 

ownership. The screening and provision of feedback was done to by-law-allowed degree of availability of information, and enabled the confirmation of exclusions.  
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smuggling of people across the state border, or even in forced prostitution. In such cases, economic aspects were 

investigated in regard more to the victims than the perpetrators in order to identify signals of exploitation. Closer 

attention to economic aspects was found in economic-related offences. However, the main objective was still to identify 

discrepancies and anomalies, and not to investigate the methods used to become the owners and/or managers of the 

business entity. In cases of missing traders, such a focus was sometimes present. However, if the case was related to 

drug trafficking activities, only partial information on the process of infiltration was available (the missing trader was 

prosecuted separately and the related file was not obtained for the analysis).  

The prosecutor files were also useful for finding out the names of business entities involved in the cases. This 

information was used to retrieve details on the ‘portfolio’ of the business from the AJPES.14 This was particularly useful 

since the Slovenian legislation does not allow the AJPES to disclose data on all the businesses connected to a certain 

person. In order to acquire information on a certain business entity, it is necessary to have the exact name of that entity. 

The information included in the prosecutor files was also used to collect information on the case studies, e.g. 

information on the investigation (e.g. court, year of the investigation, criminal charges), information on the business (e.g. 

registered address, economic sector), information on the criminal organisation involved (e.g. type of OCG, territory of 

operations). Some demographic characteristics of the perpetrators (e.g. age, employment status, education level) were 

also collected. 

Eight case studies on OCG infiltration of legal businesses in Slovenia were selected for further analysis. They were 

selected on the basis of completeness of information (case studies with the greatest amount of available information 

were preferred), temporal availability (case studies obtained in due time were selected), and diversification (when 

possible, case studies on OCG infiltration in different territories and economic sectors were selected). Table A18 

summarises the main steps of the identification and selection process. 

Table A18. Identification and selection process 

Literature review  Police statistics 

No. of reviewed documents 2522  4613 
No. of criminal charges for offences with 

signs of OC 

No. of mentions of a connection 

between OCGs and legitimate 

businesses 

71  307 
No. of criminal charges for offences with 

signs of OC and economic crimes 

No. of mentions with potentially enough 

data for identification by the Office of 

the State Prosecutor General of the 

Republic of Slovenia 

32  70 
No. of prosecutor files that include 

persons from the aforementioned cases 

No. of prosecutor files identified from both the 

approaches 
97   

No. of cases first approved for review 56   

No. of cases actually reviewed 45   

No. of cases suitable for Project ARIEL 18 (+9)*   

No. of cases selected for the analysis  8   

No. of episodes 18   

No. of infiltrated businesses 35   

* For 9 cases the review of the files and the data gathered did not indicate straightforward suitability for the project. Nonetheless, the cases still included 

information valuable for the analysis and, therefore, could potentially be included in the sample. 

Swedish case studies 

Case studies on OCG infiltration in legal businesses were identified through the literature review and through expert 

seminars with participants from both the private security sector and law enforcement agencies. A seminar was held with 

each group at the beginning of the project, and another one halfway through the project. The members of the reference 

groups provided Brå researchers with cases to analyse, in several instances actually the same cases as found in the 

media analysis. Some of the selected cases were also mentioned by several participants in both reference groups.  

In line with the general guidelines described above, the selection procedure aimed at selecting case studies that 

differed from each other and covered as many sectors and types of infiltration as possible. When two similar cases were 

                                                
14 Portfolio information was received in the form of an Excel file including various data on business entities with connections with OCGs. The file contained multiple 

variables, such as the date of incorporation, the date of deletion from the business register, information on the owners/shareholders, the nationality of the 

owners/shareholders, the size of the business, etc. However, it did not include information on credit ratings and other more qualitative variables.  
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found, the one chosen for the analysis was the most recent case and/or the case for which the greatest amount of 

information was available (i.e. completed pre-trial investigation, verdict). 

During the expert seminars, participants were encouraged to share examples of cases of OCG infiltration according to 

the criteria mentioned above. This made it possible to select a few more relevant cases and broaden the sample of case 

studies. Because there is no specific crime called ‘infiltration’ in Sweden, it was not possible to draw any samples of 

cases. We therefore do not know if the selected cases describe the full variety of infiltration methods in Sweden. 

Nonetheless, on the basis of a combination of different methods, such as the literature review and expert seminars with 

both private sector actors and law enforcement agencies, it is possible to assume that the analysis covers a significant 

portion of the known methods of infiltration. This said, there is still a risk that potential methods and risk sectors 

unknown to the judicial system were excluded, since the primary unit of analysis in the study was represented by court 

cases. 

Another risk in asking participants for case studies is that they may choose spectacular, in some sense extreme, cases. 

A few such cases emerged, but they were not enough. Therefore, the scope of the search was widened by asking 

participants for more cases, as well as by following up on case examples mentioned during the seminars. This led to 

more ‘everyday’ cases emerging. The discussion during seminars also made it possible to ask if a certain event or 

behaviour was typical and occurred in other cases. In some cases, the description provided by the media reports was 

quite dramatic; but the case file, and especially the talks with investigators, gave a more reasonable picture of the 

infiltration. 

As a result of the selection process, 20 case studies were selected for further analysis. Table A19 lists the selected 

cases by type of sector and/or phenomenon involved: 

Table A19. Summary of the Swedish case studies 

Sector/phenomenon Number of cases 

Currency exchange/banks used to facilitate money 

laundering/credit fraud 
4 

Assistance compensation fraud, care sector 2 

Excise tax fraud, cigarettes, alcohol 2 

Organised fraud (compensation, illicit work), construction 

sector 
2 

Telemarketing fraud, telemarketing sector, vicimizing 

several sectors 
2 

Salary guarantee fraud, mainly construction sector 2 

Credit fraud, manufacture of wearing apparel 1 

Petrol station taken over by OC 1 

Fraud/fencing of cars, taxi sector 1 

Metal thefts facilitated by infiltration of the 

waste/recycling sector 
1 

Extortion, restaurant sector 1 

Hair dressing salon run by people with ties to OC 1 
Source: Brå elaboration 

The case files collected for the analysis consisted mainly of verdicts and pre-trial investigations (from the Court, the 

Police and Economic Crime Authority). Most files also contained the indictment (from the Prosecutor). In a few cases, 

files regarding bankruptcy of the infiltrated company were analysed (from the District Court and Bankruptcy Trustee). 

Most case files included interrogations. A few also contained data from surveillance or wiretapping. 

In most of the cases, infiltration of a company was not the focus of the investigation, since, on many occasions, the act 

of infiltration was committed in a way that could not be criminalised. For example, the infiltration was by members of 

organised crime groups who simply established a new company, which is neither criminalised nor particularly 

complicated. Instead, investigations typically focus on the economic crimes that take place after the infiltration. The 

infiltration process was therefore reconstructed by studying judicial documents and discussing the case with 

investigators and prosecutors; nevertheless, it was difficult to obtain sufficient information. The reasons for this were 

many; for example, the way in which an OCG acquired a company was often not investigated since it did not include any 

illegal action and, therefore, was not relevant for the prosecution. In other cases, efforts were made to map the 

infiltration, but it was not possible. Moreover, it seems that, in at least some cases, the former owners did not cooperate 

with the Police or did not tell the truth about the acquisition of the company. The circumstances of the acquisition were 
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sometimes suspicious, and it is possible that the former owners acted under threat/extortion. In at least one 

interrogation, the transfer/sale of the company was preceded by extortion/threats.  

In order to reduce the weaknesses of the data further, the above-mentioned reference groups were created with experts 

from agencies such as the Financial Intelligence Unit, the Tax Agency, the Economic Crime Authority, the Swedish 

Enforcement Authority, the Unemployment Agency, the County Administrative Board of Stockholm, the Swedish 

Companies Registration Office, the Swedish Competition Authority, the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority, and a 

representative of an association for bankruptcy trustees. Some of the participants worked on intelligence gathering and 

analysis or had regular contacts with companies; they therefore had more knowledge about infiltration than is relevant 

in court cases. Additional perspectives and even more in-depth knowledge of infiltration was gathered through the 

reference group consisting of experts from the private security sector. The companies in this sector are hired by other 

companies to, amongst other things, protect them from infiltration by organised crime. The general view of that group of 

experts was that many business owners never report their experience to the police. Therefore the seminars and talks 

with the participants in the reference groups provided further insights to the description of the infiltration process. 

British case studies 

Thirty case studies on infiltration of 50 different legal businesses were initially identified from the larger pool of 

references to OCG infiltration in the UK included in the DCI. These 50 businesses provide a good coverage of different 

infiltrated territories, sectors and drivers of infiltration: 

 Territories: London (18); Scotland (7); North East (4); South East (5); Wales (3); North West (3); West Midlands 

(2); East of England (2); Yorkshire and the Humber (2); South West (1); East Midland (2); Northern Ireland (1). 

 Sectors: wholesale and retail trade (13); financial and insurance activities (5); manufacturing (5); 

transportation (1); construction (6); hotels, bars and restaurants (1); IT services (4); waste and scrap 

management (2); clubs and gambling activities (2); legal and professional activities (1); support service 

activities (6); personal service activities (2); not identified (2). 

 Drivers of infiltration/contributory crimes: fraud (32); money laundering (22); drug offences (9); counterfeiting 

(3); illegal waste disposal (2); evasion of fish quotas (2). 

They also covered a reasonable timeframe. Of the 45 companies for which it was possible to identify the period of 

infiltration, 42 businesses were infiltrated in the 2000s-2010s, and only 3 in the 1990s. 

The identification of case studies was premised on the availability of good quality, reliable data on a sub-set of cases 

included in the DCI. It is worth noting that evidence of OCG infiltration included in the DCI was identified through media 

sources (both national and local) but also through academic literature, institutional reports, policies, etc.. While offering 

only a superficial understanding of infiltration, media sources are a time-efficient way to build a large database on a 

particular area of organised crime infiltration of legitimate business. They also provide a starting point for the collection 

of more in-depth data through judicial documents and police files.  

However, this two-way method of collecting and analysing data (first identification through media sources, then in-depth 

analysis through judicial documents and/or police files) has limitations in that media sources sometimes fall short of 

offering complete information, thus undermining the process at the outset. Notably, the absence of the name and the 

VAT identification number of infiltrated businesses hinders the possibility to retrieve business financial statements and 

conduct the financial and accounting analysis. As a way to overcome this problem, in some circumstances it was 

possible to use the names of criminals involved in the activities to retrieve the name and/or the VAT identification 

number of infiltrated businesses through sources such as www.companycheck.co.uk. However, when this method also 

failed (e.g. because the criminals were not the owners/shareholders of the company or because there was no way to 

ascertain their identity) and when judicial documents and police files were not available or could not offer such 

information either, the cases could not be used for further analysis. 

In short, the primary concern when identifying cases to be included in DCS was completeness of information and, 

therefore, the possibility to retrieve the business financial statements and conduct the financial and accounting 

analysis. In the end, only cases in which the name and the VAT identification number of the infiltrated business were 

available could be included in the database. Once this key criteria was satisfied, the methodology further aimed to 

ensure representativeness of case studies (i.e. encompassing all different types of infiltration recorded in the UK), 

diversification in terms of characteristics, areas and sectors, and temporal proximity of the events. 
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Of the 30 case studies initially identified, 10 case studies (and 23 infiltrated businesses) were selected for further 

analysis. Once more, the overarching aims of the chosen methodology had to be reconciled with pragmatic 

considerations. Notably, the need for high quality and complete information on the step-by-step process of infiltration 

ruled out all sources other than judicial documents and police files. The aim was to select representative, recent and 

diverse cases. In reality, the availability of reliable sources on some cases, rather than others, influenced the selection. 

Judicial documents were available and were employed to analyse 9 out of the 10 cases. These judicial documents were 

retrieved through professional repositories, such as LexisNexis. In one case, investigation files were made available by 

the police and, therefore, the case was analysed more in detail. The investigation files were complemented with 

interviews with the police team in charge of the investigation. As the trial was still ongoing, it was not possible to obtain 

judicial documents. 

Despite the limitations described above, the 10 case studies, and 23 businesses, selected for the analysis broadly meet 

the criteria of representativeness, diversification and temporal proximity described above. For example, the infiltrated 

sectors are decently represented in the case studies: construction (3 businesses); wholesale and retail trade (5 

businesses); IT services (4 businesses); financial and insurance activities (2 businesses); transportation (1 business); 

hotels, bars and restaurants (1 business); support service activities (6 businesses); personal service activities (1 

business). Other criteria are instead less balanced. London (15 businesses) is disproportionately represented compared 

to other territories (e.g. Scotland: 1 business; North East: 2 businesses; South East: 4 businesses; West Midlands: 1 

business); and some areas (e.g. North West) commonly described as being vulnerable to infiltration are not represented 

at all. At the same time, fraud (20) is disproportionately represented as the main reason for infiltration and/or 

contributory crime compared, e.g., with money laundering (5) and drug offences (1). 

The main limitation to the analysis of the selected case studies was the absence of enough data to trace the exact steps 

taken by organised crime groups from their first intention to infiltrate a business to the point when their activities were 

investigated by law enforcement agencies. While varying in detail and quality, the judicial documents and the single 

police investigation files collected mostly focused on the criminal side of the activities. Therefore, the pre-infiltration 

period and the business activities conducted during infiltration lacked important details or were absent altogether. 

Future research should take this issue into account and consider the time, resources and capacities necessary to 

undertake more extensive qualitative fieldwork to complement the analysis of judicial documents and police files.  

Although this was not possible for this study (predominantly due to reasons of time and access), similar pieces of 

research carried out in the future should consider interviewing prosecutors, police officers and members of organised 

crime groups. Yet an overarching issue facing this type of research in the UK is the dearth of available information on 

the investments of organised crime groups. This is evidenced by the difficulties in obtaining relevant data to be included 

in the database and, in particular, in accessing a larger number of judicial documents and police files to be analysed. 

Researchers need to be aware of this issue but also to understand the particular British context. Against an institutional 

tradition of state dirigisme and a centralised system of policing typical of continental European countries, the United 

Kingdom’s orientation points towards institutional localism exemplified by its 46 territorial police forces. Therefore, 

police forces tend to operate independently from one another and researchers need to access them separately.  

A number of queries were made to police forces in England and Scotland over a six month period, but to no avail. 

Discussion with British academics conducting research on organised crime confirmed the difficulties in fostering 

effective partnerships between academics and the police that go beyond institutional engagements (e.g. conferences) 

and encompass data sharing and mutual collaborations. The National Crime Agency could in the future become a more 

easily accessible source of data on organised crime but, given that it became fully operational only in October 2013, this 

could take some time. 

The limitations highlighted above (in particular, the main focus of judicial documents and police files on criminal, rather 

than business, activities) both resulted in varying levels of detail across the 10 case studies and impacted on the 

understanding of the various steps of the infiltration process. In other words, some cases were described in greater 

detail while others less so. Moreover, in all of the 10 cases, information on the criminal activities tend to be richer than 

information on the business activities, such as the pre-conditions to infiltration and, in particular, the control and 

management strategies of infiltrated companies. On some occasions it was not possible to ascertain the exact role of 

certain actors within the organised crime group and/or within the business(es). 
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Chapter 8 draws on the information collected in the Database on Case Studies (DCS) of OCG infiltration. Therefore, no 

specific methodology is provided for this chapter. 

 

The script approach is adopted to analyse the step-by-step process of criminal infiltration in legal businesses. The aim is 

to analyse the modi operandi adopted by criminal groups during the infiltration process and identify the vulnerabilities of 

the territories, business sectors and legitimate businesses. 

The script approach has been borrowed from cognitive science (Schank & Abelson, 1977). It provides a framework to 

analyse the crime-commission process for the purposes of prevention. It considers crimes, including complex crimes, as 

sequences of interdependent actions (Cornish, 1994; Cornish & Clarke, 2002). 

Crime scripts are ‘step-by-step accounts of procedures used by offenders through the entire crime process’ (Chiu, 

Leclerc, & Townsley, 2011). Scripts can be divided into scenes involving smaller units of action. Each scene is 

characterised by particular actions, as well as by actors, roles, props, and locations. 

Script scenes identified by Cornish (1994) – who was the first to propose the concept of crime script – include: 

preparation, entry, pre-condition, instrumental pre-condition, instrumental initiation, instrumental actualisation, doing, 

post-condition, exit (Table A20). 

Table A20. Auto theft script 

Scenes Actions 

Preparation 

Get screwdriver 

Get scaffold tube 

Select co-offenders 

Entry 
Go to public car-park 

Enter parking lot 

Pre-condition Loiter unobtrusively 

Instrumental pre-condition 
Reject alarmed cars 

Select vehicle 

Instrumental initiation 

Approach vehicle 

Force lock with screwdriver 

Break into vehicle 

Instrumental actualisation 

Break off trim 

Scaff ignition barrel 

Remove ignition and steering lock 

Activate starter switch 

Doing Take vehicle 

Post-condition Reverse out of bay 

Exit Leave parking lot 
Source: Cornish (1994). 

Scripts can also be distinguished into specific tracks which describe the crime-commission process of a crime in 

different circumstances. Different crime-specific levels of analysis can thus be identified: ‘metascript’ (e.g. theft of 

property), ‘protoscript’ (e.g. robbery), ‘script’ (e.g. robbery from person), ‘track’ (e.g. subway mugging).  

Dividing the crime into a series of scenes and actions enables to identify the prerequisites and facilitators of the single 

actions and thus the vulnerabilities within the crime-commission process. The analysis of vulnerabilities and crime 

opportunities within the crime-commission process enables identification of prevention measures (Savona, 2010). 

For each case study, the overall process of infiltration and the actors involved were identified and described. In the case 

of more than one infiltrated business, description of the relationship among the different businesses was also recorded. 

For each infiltrated business, the following elements were identified and described in detail: 
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 Overall framework: the socio-economic context in which the infiltration took place; 

 Territory of infiltration: the geographical area (city, province, region) where the infiltration took place; 

 Infiltrated business: the business infiltrated by the OCG; 

 Infiltration process: the actions undertaken by the OGC to infiltrate the legitimate business; 

 Cast: the actors who participated in the process of infiltration, their roles, and the related organised crime 

group (internal organisation, geographical distribution, related illegal activities); 

 Prerequisites: the conditions that needed to be satisfied before the infiltration process was initiated; 

 Results: the goals achieved by the OCG infiltrating the legitimate business; 

 Conclusions: the most important elements that emerged from the analysis and the main factors that facilitated 

the infiltration. 

Information on each infiltrated business was summarised as in Table A21. 

Table A21. Summary of information on infiltrated businesses 

Summary 

Summary of the characteristics of the infiltrated business and the infiltration process. 

Data sources 

 Source #1 

 Source #2 

Territory of infiltration 

Territory (city, province, and region) of infiltration 

E.g. Buccinasco, Milano, Lombardia 

Sector of infiltration 

Sector of infiltrated business (NACE 2-digit) 

E.g. Restaurants and mobile food service activities 

Type of infiltration 

Already existing business OR New business 

E.g. Already existing business 

Type of participation in business 

Ownership of shares AND/OR Internal management control AND/OR External management control 

E.g. Internal management control 

Type of infiltrated business 

Legal form of the infiltrated business 

E.g. Private limited company 

Cast 

Actors involved in the infiltration process and their roles 

E.g. Members of outlaw motorcycle gang, lawyer, legal entrepreneur 

Period 

Period of the infiltration process 

E.g. 2007-2008 

Contributory crimes 

Crimes committed in the infiltration process or in the aftermath 

E.g. Accounting manipulations, tax evasion, threats 

 
Writing the script of OCG infiltration entails analysing the infiltration process of each episode of infiltration in the five EU 

MS, identifying common elements, summarising them into scenes and actions, and identifying factors that facilitate the 

infiltration process or make it more profitable for offenders (Tompson & Chainey, 2011). 

The infiltration process can be broken down into a series of logical steps (scenes and actions). The script (i.e. OCG 

infiltration of a legitimate business) can also be distinguished into specific tracks which describe the crime-commission 

process of infiltration in different circumstances. Two tracks can be identified in the script of OCG infiltration of legal 

businesses. The first involves the acquisition of an already-existing legal business by the members of the criminal group; 

the second occurs when organised criminals start a new business. Tracks are broken down into the same scenes, but 

actions, as well as actors, roles, props and locations of each scene, may vary according to the features of the track. 
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The analysis of the ownership structure of infiltrated businesses consists mainly of descriptive statistics of the data 

included in the Database on Case Studies (DCS). 

Legal form 

The legal form of infiltrated businesses was classified according to the Bureau van Dijk’s Orbis classification: 

 Public limited companies; 

 Private limited companies; 

 Partnerships; 

 Sole traders; 

 Public authorities; 

 Non-profit organisations; 

 Branches; 

 Foreign companies; 

 Other legal forms; 

 Companies with unknown/unrecorded legal form. 

Descriptive statistics assessed the distribution of the legal forms of infiltrated businesses in the five countries covered 

by the project. The distribution of the legal forms of infiltrated businesses was then compared with the distribution of the 

legal forms of active companies stored in Bureau van Dijk’s Orbis to assess possible overrepresentation or 

underrepresentation of some legal forms in the DCS. 

In particular the ratio between infiltrated businesses and Orbis active companies was calculated in each country and for 

each legal form (Table A22). A ratio value >1 indicates that the legal form was overrepresented in the DCS; whereas, a 

ratio value <1 indicates that the legal form was underrepresented in the DCS. 

Table A22. Rate between infiltrated businesses and Orbis active companies by country and legal form 

Legal form Italy The Netherlands Slovenia Sweden UK 

Public limited companies 3.8 0.0 0.0 69.4 31.8 

Private limited companies 2.8 2.9 1.6 1.4 1.5 

Partnerships 1.3 1.1 5.2 0.7 0.0 

Sole traders 0.2 0.0 1.0 0.1 0.0 

Public authorities 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Non-profit organisations 1.4 0.0 0.3 1.4 0.0 

Branches 0.0 0.0 35.5 0.0 0.0 

Foreign companies 26.9 0.0 0.0 4.6 0.0 

Other legal forms 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

NA 1.0 0.0 0.1 1.7 0.0 
Source: Transcrime elaboration on DCS and Orbis data 

The legal form of infiltrated businesses was also compared with the most common legal form in the same country and 

business sector. In order to identify the most common legal form in a given country and business sector (NACE 0-digit), 

use was made of the data on active companies registered in Bureau van Dijk’s Orbis. For each legal form category, the 

percentage of registered companies over the total number of companies in the same business sector and country was 

calculated. The legal form with the highest prevalence was considered as the most common one. In the case in which 

more than one legal form was largely prevalent over the others (i.e. the difference between the values of the two 

categories was ≤5%), both the first and the second most common legal forms were used for comparison. Table A23 

describes the most common legal form(s) identified in each country and each business sector. 

Table A23. Most common legal forms by country and business sector 

Business 

sector 

Italy The Netherlands Slovenia Sweden United Kingdom 

1st  2nd 1st  2nd 1st  2nd 1st  2nd 1st  2nd 

Agriculture 

and fishing 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 

Partner

ships 
NA - 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Other 

legal 
- 
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forms 

Mining and 

quarrying  

Private 

limited 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Manufactur

ing  

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 

Private 

limited 

Private 

limited 
- 

Energy 

supply  

Private 

limited 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Waste and 

scrap 

manageme

nt 

Private 

limited 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Constructio

n 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Wholesale 

and retail 

trade 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Sole 

traders 

Private 

limited 

Private 

limited 
- 

Transportat

ion 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 

Private 

limited 

Private 

limited 
- 

Hotels, bars 

and 

restaurants 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Other 

legal 

forms 

- 

IT services 
Private 

limited 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Financial 

and 

insurance 

activities 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Private 

limited 

Sole 

traders 

Private 

limited 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Real estate 

activities 

Private 

limited 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Other 

legal 

forms 

- 
Private 

limited 
- 

Legal and 

professiona

l activities 

Private 

limited 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Support 

service 

activities 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Public 

administrati

on 

Private 

limited 
- 

Branch

es 
- 

Non-

profit 

organis

ations 

- 

Public 

authorit

ies 

- 

Other 

legal 

forms 

- 

Education 
Private 

limited 
- 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 
 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Other 

legal 

forms 

- 

Hospitals 

and 

residential 

care 

Partner

ships 

Private 

limited 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Sole 

traders 
N/A 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Other 

legal 

forms 

Private 

limited 

Clubs and 

gambling 

activities 

Sole 

traders 

Private 

limited 

Non-

profit 

organis

ations 

Sole 

traders 

Non-

profit 

organis

ations 

- 
Sole 

traders 
- 

Private 

limited 
- 

Personal 

service 

activities 

Sole 

traders 
- 

Non-

profit 

organis

ations 

- 

Non-

profit 

organis

ations 

- 
Sole 

traders 
- 

Private 

limited 

Other 

legal 

forms 

Source: Transcrime elaboration on Orbis data 

Other forms of control 

The size of infiltrated businesses was established on the basis of information retrieved from Bureau van Dijk’s Orbis. 

The age of infiltrated businesses was calculated as the difference between the year when the infiltration process started 

and the year of incorporation. 
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For each infiltrated business, a non-infiltrated business with similar characteristics was identified. Four criteria for the 

identification of businesses to be included in the peer group were used:  

Spatial proximity. All businesses with the registered address in the same territory as the infiltrated business were 

selected. The territorial level considered corresponded to the country (NUTS 0) in the case of businesses operating in a 

concentrated market (i.e., monopoly and oligopoly), and to the region (NUTS 2) in the case of businesses operating in a 

competitive market. 

The Herfindahl-Hirschman Index (HHI) was calculated for each infiltrated business to identify the proper territorial level 

of the corresponding non-infiltrated business. The HHI was calculated at national level (e.g. Italy, the Netherlands) 

according to the turnover of all companies belonging to the same economic sector (NACE 0-digit) as the infiltrated 

company. The year considered for the turnover was 2013.15 

Business sector. All businesses with the same economic sector (NACE 2-digit) as the infiltrated business were identified 

and selected. 

Availability of information. All businesses with annual reports for the same years as the infiltrated business were 

identified and selected. 

Total assets. The legal business with the value of total assets closest to that of the infiltrated business was selected. 

The difference between the infiltrated business’s total assets and the total assets of the legal business to be included in 

the peer group should not exceed ±30%. The infiltrated business’ total assets used for comparison was that in the year 

before the beginning of infiltration (𝑌−1) in the case of already existing businesses, and that in the year when the 

infiltration process started (𝑌0) in the case of new businesses.16 

For each of the infiltrated and non-infiltrated businesses selected for the analysis, the documents listed in Table A24 

were collected. 

Table A24. Financial and accounting documents 

Documents Description 

Balance sheet The balance sheet provides information on the financing sources (liabilities 

and equity) and their use (assets). 

Profit and loss account This provides information on the profitability and costs of the business. 

Notes to the financial statements The notes typically describe each item of the balance sheet, the income 

statement and the cash flow statement in further details. 

Company’s shareholders and directors This identifies the shareholders and the directors of the business, and the 

methods of control of the company. 

Cash flow statement This includes inflows and outflows of cash and equivalents, showing the 

changes in the balance sheet and in the profit and loss account. 

Management report This is an informative document on the management and on the situation of 

the company. It contains the number of shares, the objectives and risks of 

the business, important events. The report is drafted by the directors. 

News and rumours Other information on the business and its activities. 
Source: Transcrime elaboration 

                                                
15 The data were downloaded from BvD Orbis. The HHI was calculated according to the data of the latest available year in BvD Orbis, i.e., 2013, since it was 

assumed that the concentration of the market is stable over time. The comparison of the 2013 HHI for a sample of economic sectors with the 2005 HHI (the first 

available year for turnover in BvD Orbis) for the same economic sectors did not show any significant changes over time. 

An economic sector is considered as highly competitive when the HHI is below 0.01; unconcentrated when the HHI is below 0.15; moderately concentrated when 

the HHI is between 0.15 and 0.25; highly concentrated when the HHI is above 0.25). 
16 If 𝑌−1 or 𝑌0 were before 2005, the control group was selected among the list of companies identified using the following steps: 

i. Select companies in the same country (NUTS 0)/region (NUTS 2) and economic sector (NACE 2-digit) as the infiltrated business. 

ii. Include the following variables in the BvD Orbis output: BvD ID number, Last avail. year, Number of available years. 

iii. Download the Excel file with the list of selected businesses. 

iv. Create a new column with (𝐿𝑎𝑠𝑡 𝑎𝑣𝑎𝑖𝑙. 𝑦𝑒𝑎𝑟 − 𝑁𝑢𝑚𝑏𝑒𝑟 𝑜𝑓 𝑎𝑣𝑎𝑖𝑙𝑎𝑏𝑙𝑒 𝑦𝑒𝑎𝑟𝑠) + 1. 

v. Filter the data in the new column and select records with [(𝐿𝑎𝑠𝑡 𝑎𝑣𝑎𝑖𝑙. 𝑦𝑒𝑎𝑟 − 𝑁𝑢𝑚𝑏𝑒𝑟 𝑜𝑓 𝑎𝑣𝑎𝑖𝑙𝑎𝑏𝑙𝑒 𝑦𝑒𝑎𝑟𝑠) + 1] ≥ 𝑌−1 in the case of already existing 

businesses and [(𝐿𝑎𝑠𝑡 𝑎𝑣𝑎𝑖𝑙. 𝑦𝑒𝑎𝑟 − 𝑁𝑢𝑚𝑏𝑒𝑟 𝑜𝑓 𝑎𝑣𝑎𝑖𝑙𝑎𝑏𝑙𝑒 𝑦𝑒𝑎𝑟𝑠) + 1] ≥ 𝑌0 in the case of new businesses. 

vi. Copy BvD ID number for selected businesses and search for them in BvD Orbis (search for BvD ID number). 

vii. Select the year (𝐿𝑎𝑠𝑡 𝑎𝑣𝑎𝑖𝑙. 𝑦𝑒𝑎𝑟 − 𝑁). 

viii. Download the Excel file with the new list of selected businesses. 

ix. Identify the business with a total asset closest to that of the infiltrated business.  
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The financial and accounting documents were retrieved from national business registers and/or other commercial 

business information data providers. Table A25 summarises the sources of information used in each country. 

Table A25. Data providers for financial and accounting information 

Country Data providers 

Italy BvD Orbis and InfoCamere 

The Netherlands Kamer van Koophandel (KvK) 

Slovenia BvD Orbis and Agency of the Republic of Slovenia for Public Legal Records 

and Related Services (AJPES) 

Sweden BvD Orbis and Bolagsverket (Swedish Companies Registration Office) 

United Kingdom BvD Orbis and Companies House 
Source: Transcrime elaboration 

In the case of already existing businesses, financial and accounting documents were collected for a maximum of a 

seven-year period, i.e. three years before the beginning of the infiltration, the year the infiltration started, and three 

years after the infiltration started. In the case of new businesses, annual reports were retrieved for a maximum of a four-

year period, i.e. the year of the beginning of the infiltration and three years afterwards. 

Several financial items and ratios were analysed during the financial and accounting analysis of case studies on OCG 

infiltration. Table A26, Table A27 and Source: Transcrime elaboration 

Table A28 summarise the items and ratios analysed according to the different objectives of the financial and accounting 

analysis. 

Table A26. Ratios for the analysis of financing sources of infiltrated businesses 

OC drivers and/or needs Assumptions Accounting level signals Ratios 

Large availability of illicit 

resources for laundering 

and for financing the firm 

Low levels of financial debt 
Low level of financial debts 

on total assets 

(Current financial liabilities 

+ Medium/long term 

financial liabilities - Cash 

and cash equivalents) / Net 

equity 

Low levels of debts Low level of debts 

(Current liabilities + 

Medium/long term 

liabilities + Accruals and 

deferrals + Employees' 

termination benefits 

provision) / Net equity 

Need to conceal illicit 

resources 

Little use of shareholders' 

funds 

Low level of equity on total 

assets 
Net equity / Total assets 

Use of covert forms of 

funding 

High level of other debts 

(Other current payables + 

Other medium/long term 

payables) / Total liabilities 

High level of trade payables 

(Current payables to 

suppliers + Medium/long 

term payables to suppliers) 

/ Total liabilities 

Intimidation of suppliers High exposure to suppliers High level of trade payables 

(Current payables to 

suppliers + Medium/long 

term payables to suppliers) 

/ Total liabilities 
Source: Transcrime elaboration 

Table A27. Ratios for the analysis of the use of assets of infiltrated businesses 

OC drivers and/or needs Assumptions Accounting level signals Ratios 

Shell companies: no 

production and 

investments, use of the 

companies only for money 

laundering 

Low levels of fixed assets 

Low levels of fixed assets 

and non-current assets out 

of total assets 

Total fixed assets / Total 

assets 

High levels of current 

assets 

High level of current assets 

out of total assets 

Total current assets / Total 

assets 
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High level of cash and cash 

equivalents out of total 

assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

/ Total assets 

High level of  trade 

receivables out of total 

assets 

Receivables from 

customers / Total assets 

High level of non-financial 

current credits out of total 

assets 

Inventory / Total assets 

Shell companies: need to 

conceal outflow to OCG 

members and/or colluding 

companies 

Use of receivables and 

debtors to screen outflows 

to members 

High levels of trade 

receivables 

Receivables from 

customers / Total assets 

High levels of other debtors 
Receivables from others / 

Total assets 

High levels of receivables 

and debtors 

(Receivables from 

customers + Receivables 

from subsidiaries + 

Receivables from 

associates + Receivables 

from parents + Receivables 

from others) / Total assets 
Source: Transcrime elaboration 

Table A28. Ratios for the analysis of profitability of infiltrated businesses 

OC drivers and/or needs Assumptions Accounting level signals Ratios 

Productive companies: 

profit maximization and 

costs minimization through 

criminal methods 

Costs minimization in the 

purchase of raw materials 

and services 

Use of poor-quality 

materials 

Cost of raw materials, 

consumables and 

merchandise + Change in 

raw materials, 

consumables and 

merchandise 

Minimization of production 

costs 
Low production costs 

Personnel costs + Cost of 

raw materials, 

consumables and 

merchandise 

Advantages from illegality 

and discouragement of 

competition 

Profitability higher than the 

sector's average 

Revenues from sales and 

services 

Shell and paper companies: 

concealing and laundering 

of criminal resources 

No productive activity 
Low revenues and 

profitability 
EBITDA margin 

Concealment of cash 

outflows to OC members in 

the form of wages or as 

purchases of services 

High levels of services costs 

or ones above the sector's 

average 

Cost of services 

Source: Transcrime elaboration 

For each variable (financial item or ratio), the mean and median were calculated for the group of infiltrated businesses 

and the peer group. The Student’s t-test was applied to test for differences in mean values between the treatment (i.e. 

infiltrated businesses) and the control (i.e. peers) groups. Building on previous studies (Beneish, 1999; Kaminski, 

Wetzel, & Guan, 2004; Persons, 1995; Ravenda, Argilés-Bosch, & Valencia-Silva, 2015) the Student’s t-test was 

conducted on the means of the three years before and the three years after the infiltration.  

The Student’s t-test helps identify financial items and ratios of infiltrated businesses which significantly differ from those 

of legal, non-infiltrated, businesses included in the peer group. Table A29, Table A30 and Source: Transcrime elaboration 

Table A31 present the results of the analyses. 

Table A29. Results of the analysis of financing sources of infiltrated businesses 

OC drivers and/or 

needs 
Assumptions 

Accounting level 

signals 

Avg. infiltrated 

businesses 
Avg. peer group t-test 
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Large availability 

of illicit resources 

for laundering 

and for financing 

the firm 

Low levels of 

financial debt 

Low level of 

financial debts 

on total assets 

-0.44 0.91 2.12 (p=0.04) 

Low levels of 

debts 

Low level of 

debts 
4 7 1.56 (p=0.12) 

Need to conceal 

illicit resources 

Little use of 

shareholders' 

funds 

Low level of 

equity on total 

assets 

-0.01 0.14 0.47 (p=0.64) 

Use of covert 

forms of funding 

High level of 

other debts 
0.64 0.60 0.14 (p=0.89) 

High level of 

trade payables 
0.51 0.32 1.23 (p=0.22) 

Intimidation of 

suppliers 

High exposure to 

suppliers 

High level of 

trade payables 
0.51 0.32 1.23 (p=0.22) 

Source: Transcrime elaboration 

Table A30. Results of the analysis of the use of assets of infiltrated businesses 

OC drivers and/or 

needs 
Assumptions 

Accounting level 

signals 

Avg. infiltrated 

businesses 
Avg. peer group t-test 

Shell companies: 

no production 

and investments, 

use of the 

companies only 

for money 

laundering 

Low levels of 

fixed assets 

Low levels of 

fixed assets and 

non-current 

assets out of 

total assets 

0.43 0.36 1.36 (p=0.18) 

High levels of 

current assets 

High level of 

current assets 

out of total 

assets 

0.57 0.64 1.21 (p=0.23) 

High level of cash 

and cash 

equivalents out 

of total assets 

0.18 0.17 0.08 (p=0.94) 

High level of  

trade receivables 

out of total 

assets 

0.19 0.18 0.19 (p=0.85) 

High level of non-

financial current 

credits out of 

total assets 

0.053 0.009 2.63 (p=0.01) 

Shell companies: 

need to conceal 

outflow to OCG 

members and/or 

colluding 

companies 

Use of 

receivables and 

debtors to screen 

outflows to 

members 

High levels of 

trade receivables 
0.19 0.18 0.19 (p=0.85) 

High levels of 

other debtors 
0.09 0.30 3.18 (p=0.00) 

High levels of 

receivables and 

debtors 

0.24 0.41 3.57 (p=0.00) 

Source: Transcrime elaboration 

Table A31. Results of the analysis of profitability of infiltrated businesses 

OC drivers and/or 

needs 
Assumptions 

Accounting level 

signals 

Avg. infiltrated 

businesses 
Avg. peer group t-test 

Productive 

companies: profit 

maximization and 

costs 

minimization 

through criminal 

methods 

Costs 

minimization in 

the purchase of 

raw materials 

and services 

Use of poor-

quality materials 
8,163,445 2,088,176 1.33 (p=0.19) 

Minimization of 

production costs 

Low production 

costs 
6,528,432 1,577,116 1.44 (p=0.15) 

Advantages from 

illegality and 

discouragement 

Profitability 

higher than the 

sector's average 

5,095,396 3,416,729 0.67 (p=0.51) 
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of competition 

Shell and paper 

companies: 

concealing and 

laundering of 

criminal 

resources 

No productive 

activity 

Low revenues 

and profitability 
0.076 0.144 1.68 (p=0.10) 

Concealment of 

cash outflows to 

OC members in 

the form of 

wages or as 

purchases of 

services 

High levels of 

services costs or 

ones above the 

sector's average 

2,155,898 247,049 0.82 (p=0.41) 

Source: Transcrime elaboration 

 

Chapter 12 identifies risk factors (i.e. ‘red flags’ or ‘markers’) of organised crime infiltration that can be used in a risk 

assessment model of criminal infiltration. It relies on the results presented in the previous chapters. Therefore, no 

specific methodology is provided for this chapter. 
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